
AGENDA
MEETING VENUE:

Council Chamber Council Offices,
Priory Road, Spalding

Contact: Gregory Watkinson
Direct Dial: 01775 764599
e-mail: GWatkinson@Sholland.gov.uk

Date: 3 July 2018

Dear Councillor,

A meeting of the DISTRICT COUNCIL will be held in the Council Chamber, Council 
Offices, Priory Road, Spalding on Wednesday, 11 July 2018, commencing at 6.30 pm 
at which your attendance is requested. 

Yours faithfully,

Anna Graves
Chief Executive

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes 
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 16 May 2018 
(copy enclosed).

(Pages 3 
- 10)

3. Declaration of Interests. 
(Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must 
declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without participating in 
any discussion or making a statement on the item, except where a Councillor is 
permitted to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.)

4. Chairman's Announcements. 

5. Announcements by Leader and Members of the Cabinet. 

6. Questions asked on notice under Standing Order 6 

7. Questions asked without notice under Standing Order 7 



8. Committee Minutes 
To receive the minutes of the following Committees and Panels:-

a)  Licensing Committee 19 April 2018  (Pages 
11 - 16)

b)  Committee of the Licensing Authority 19 April 2018  (Pages 
17 - 20)

c)  Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel 24 
April 2018  

(Pages 
21 - 26)

d)  Policy Development Panel 1 May 2018  (Pages 
27 - 32)

e)  Performance Monitoring Panel 2 May 2018  (Pages 
33 - 48)

f)  Planning Committee 9 May 2018  (Pages 
49 - 56)

g)  Governance and Audit 24 May 2018  (Pages 
57 - 62)

h)  Planning Committee 13 June 2018  (Pages 
63 - 68)

9. Report from Cabinet meeting held on 29 May 2018 
To consider any recommendations of the Cabinet affecting the budget and 
policy framework (Report of the Cabinet enclosed).

(Pages 
69 - 86)

10. Key Decision Plan 
To receive the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
87 - 90)

11. Annual Treasury Management Review 2017/18 
To consider the Annual Treasury Management Review for 2017-18.

(Pages 
91 - 102)

12. Nominations for Committees and other Seats and Proposed Changes to the 
Constitution. 
To receive, from political groups, nominations for any changes to Committees 
and other seats and to consider any proposed changes to the Constitution.

13. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the items(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.

14. Exclusion of the Press and Public 
To consider resolving that, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 (A) of the Act.

15. Restricted Minute 
To consider the restricted minutes of the meeting of South Holland District 
Council held on 16 May 2018 (copy enclosed).

(Pages 
103 - 
104)



- 1 -

Minutes of the Annual meeting of the SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL held 
in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Wednesday, 16 
May 2018 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

R Grocock (Chairman)
H Drury (Vice-Chairman)

B Alcock
G R Aley
D Ashby
J R Astill
J Avery
F Biggadike
M D Booth
C J T H Brewis
P E Coupland
T A Carter
A Casson
M G Chandler

G K Dark
L J Eldridge
P C Foyster
R Gambba-Jones
A Harrison
J L King
C J Lawton
J D McLean
A M Newton
G A Porter
J L Reynolds
M D Seymour

S-A Slade
E J Sneath
G J Taylor
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell
Whitbourn
P A Williams
A R Woolf
C N Worth
Wray

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillor C N Johnson. 

In Attendance: Chief Executive, Shared Executive Manager – Governance, 
Communities Manager, Shared Executive Director – Place and Democratic Services 
Officer.

Action By
1. ELECTION OF A CHAIRMAN 

The Deputy Monitoring Officer invited nominations for the election 
of Chairman of the Council for the ensuing year. Councillor 
Grocock was nominated and seconded.

DECISION:

That Councillor R Grocock be elected as Chairman of the Council 
for the ensuing year. SE 

2. ELECTION OF A VICE-CHAIRMAN 

The Chairman of the Council invited nominations for the election 
of Vice-Chairman of the Council for the ensuing year. Councillor 
Drury was nominated and seconded.

DECISION

That Councillor Drury be elected as Vice-Chairman of the Council SE 

Page 3

Agenda Item 2.



- 2 -

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 
16 May 2018

for the ensuing year.

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE. 

Apologies were received from Councillor Johnson.

4. MINUTES 

The Council considered the minutes of the meeting held on 11 
April 2018.

DECISION:

That the minutes of the meeting held on 11 April 2018 be agreed 
as a correct record and signed by the Chairman.

5. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

Item 17 – South Holland Centre Planned Maintenance and 
Essential Remedial Works - Councillor Coupland did not have a 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interest but stated that one of his 
companies had in the past been affected by the works to the 
South Holland Centre. Therefore he would not participate in 
voting on this item.

6. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS. 

The Chairman welcomed Councillor Wray to the Council.

The Chairman announced the Spalding WW2 memorial was on 
track to raise enough money to be built, and installed, hopefully 
by March 2019. He also announced that the drinking fountain in 
Ayscoughee gardens had been removed, but that it was intended 
to reinstate the drinking fountain at a town centre location to be 
determined as part of a wider town centre policy.

7. ANNOUNCEMENTS BY LEADER AND MEMBERS OF THE 
CABINET. 

The Leader of the Council announced that it was possible that 
changes would be made to the Cabinet before the next meeting of 
Council.

The Leader also congratulated Councillor Wray on her election 
and thanked her and the other candidates for their participation. 

8. QUESTIONS ASKED ON NOTICE UNDER STANDING ORDER 
6 

Page 4



- 3 -

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 
16 May 2018

The following questions were received from Councillor Dark. 
Responses were circulated by the Portfolio Holder – Place;

1) Given the considerable number of requests from across 
the District for the brown bin service to be extended what is 
the reason for the delay?

The garden waste collection trial commenced in 
April 2016 following approval by Cabinet. The 2 year 
trial gave opportunity to investigate actual 
subscription data and performance in order to make 
robust decisions on the future of such a service for 
South Holland. 

In accordance with the approved cabinet 
recommendations, Officers decided, in conjunction 
with the Portfolio Holder for Place, to continue the 
trial into year 2 in exactly the same manner as year 
1 in order to establish subscription trends and costs 
and so as not to put unnecessary expenditure and 
cost pressures on the service. This was due to 
insufficient evidence in March 2017 to confirm that 
there was enough demand to increase the 
collections by another route. Full capacity was 
reached in Summer 2017.

In November 2017 and January 2018 an update 
was taken back to Members of Cabinet and Council, 
confirming the trial performance and 
recommendations for moving forward.  The 
recommendations outlined proposals to extend the 
current scheme with a second collection vehicle, of 
which was approved. 

Subsequently, funding was released for a collection 
vehicle (26 week delivery) and bin lift conversion (12 
week delivery).  Staff funds were released in April 
with routing, customer notifications, collection day 
changes for existing customers and so forth 
commencing. The new collection routes will be 
mobilised in June 2018. 

2) On what date did it become obvious that demand was such 
that the service would be a cost neutral service and from 
that point what action was taken to evaluate the need for 
increased staffing and vehicles

Page 5



- 4 -

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 
16 May 2018

The report presented to cabinet 2017 identified the 
financial situation of the garden waste trial and 
recommended situation for moving forward. 

3) How many residents are actually on the waiting list?

1950 residents are currently on the waiting list 
however at the time of the Cabinet report there were 
1555. 

4) When can residents who have been on the waiting lists for 
over a year expect the service to be extended?

Customers on the waiting list will be contacted early 
June. 

5) The most recent complaint to me from a resident who has 
been waiting six months, not long compared to many other 
residents, who stated that he was informed the District 
waiting list was not long enough for a bulk bin order to be 
placed and he would remain on the waiting list for Magellan 
Estate, is that correct?

The ability to increase subscription numbers is 
linked to vehicle capacity and not bin order 
numbers. 

Councillor Dark thanked the Portfolio Holder for the 
comprehensive responses to his questions.

9. QUESTIONS ASKED WITHOUT NOTICE UNDER STANDING 
ORDER 7 

Question to: Councillor Worth
Question from: Councillor Newton
Subject: A16 and A17 – Relief of pinch points and 

traffic stresses in South Holland. 

Councillor Newton asked what was being done to address traffic 
issues in the district.

Councillor Worth responded that this was a large debate, 
particularly with haulage companies, and that the matter was 
often discussed. He stated that pinch points were being looked at, 
such as the Sutterton Roundabout. The District Council often took 
the opportunity to raise the matter with the County Council such 
as at Business Breakfasts.

Page 6



- 5 -

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 
16 May 2018

Question to: The Leader of the Council
Question from: Councillor Brewis
Subject: Drainage Board Levies – Adversely impacting 

upon areas covered by the drainage boards. 

Councillor Brewis asked the leader if anything could be done to 
address the additional costs to Council Tax payers in respect of 
drainage board levies falling on local tax payers.

The Leader responded that a special interest group could be 
established through the LGA and joined by 10 or more Councils. 
He felt that joining such a group would be an effective way of 
tackling issues relating to the Drainage Boards. It was also stated 
that lobbying for a funding-review had already happened.

Question to: The Leader of the Council
Question from: Councillor Brewis
Subject: Flood priorities  

Councillor Brewis had heard that it was the Policy of the Council 
to prioritise recovery of the Priory Road offices over other areas in 
the event of a flood and asked whether this was true and if so, 
why.

The Leader of the Council answered that he was not aware of any 
policy that prioritised the Council Offices and that priorities would 
be areas where the need was  greatest.

Councillor Gambba-Jones added that the suggestion that the 
Priory Road offices had been made a priority over other areas 
was a clear misinterpretation of the message delivered to 
members.

10. COMMITTEE MINUTES 

Governance and Audit Committee - 15 March 2018

DECISION:

That the minutes be received.

Planning Committee - 10 April 2018

DECISION:

Page 7



- 6 -

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 
16 May 2018

That the minutes be received.

11. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan.

DECISION:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted

12. CONSTITUTION 

Consideration was given to the report of the Monitoring Officer 
which proposed a number of variations to the Constitution.

The Authority aimed to keep the constitution up to date regularly.

Councillors asked if the introduction of a new type of Planning 
Application would affect procedures. Officers stated that there 
would be no change to procedure, but that the change would 
ensure that the definition of a planning application was accurate in 
light of recent legislative changes.

DECISION: 

a) That the minor variations made by the Monitoring Officer 
and listed in paragraph 1.2 of the report be endorsed and 
continue to have effect.

b) That the Monitoring Officer be authorised to amend Part 3 
Section F1 of the Constitution to make it clear that where 
more than one officer is identified as a proper officer then 
each officer is a proper officer for matters falling within 
his/her respective jurisdiction.

c) That Part 3, Section F1, paragraph 15 of the Constitution 
be amended in accordance with paragraph 1.3 of the 
report.

d) That the staffing delegations in Part 3, Section F1 of the 
constitution be amended in accordance with paragraph 1.5 
of the report; and

e) That the definition of Planning Applications set out in Part 
3, Section F3 of the Constitution be amended to include 
reference to the new form of planning application – 
application for planning permission in principle and 
technical details

LE 

Page 8



- 7 -

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 
16 May 2018

13. POLITICAL GROUP REGULATIONS - COMMITTEE SEATS 
REVIEW 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager – 
Governance which sought to confirm, in accordance with the 
Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 
1990, alternative arrangements and to review political seat 
allocations to Committees.

This was necessary due to  changes to political group 
membership and this had caused a need for new appointments.

DECISION:

a) That the following Committees continue to be appointed in 
accordance with political group regulations:

 Planning Committee
 Governance and Audit
 Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Committee
 Joint Appointments and Disciplinary Appeal Committee
 Policy Development Panel

b) That the following Committees continue NOT to be 
appointed in accordance with political group regulations:

 Standards Panel
 Licensing Committee
 Committee of the Licensing Authority
 Performance Monitoring Panel
 Appeals Panel
 Grievance Panel
 Settlements Agreements Sub-Committee

c) That committee seats be reviewed in accordance with 
paragraph 1.6 of the report.

LE 

14. NOMINATIONS FOR COMMITTEES AND OTHER SEATS AND 
PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE CONSTITUTION. 

Councillor Wray was appointed to the Performance Monitoring 
Panel, The Licensing Committee, the Committee of the Licensing 
Authority, the Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board and the 
Welland and Deepings Internal Drainage Board.

Councillors Slade and Foyster were appointed to the Policy 

CM, GW 

Page 9



- 8 -

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL - 
16 May 2018

Development Panel.

Councillor Sneath was replaced on the Licensing Committee and 
the Committee of the Licensing Authority by Councillor Biggadike.

15. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were none

16. EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

DECISION:

That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the 
following items of business on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in paragraphs 
1, 2, 3 and 4 of Schedule 12 (A) of the Act.

17. SOUTH HOLLAND CENTRE PLANNED MAINTENANCE AND 
ESSENTIAL REMEDIAL WORKS 

Consideration was given to the report of the Deputy Leader and 
Executive Director Place which sought approval and funding for 
essential maintenance and remedial works to South Holland 
Centre.

DECISION:

That funding be released for the works in accordance with the 
report and that authority be delegated to the Executive Director of 
Place, in consultation with the Deputy Leader, to proceed with the 
works as soon as possible.

EH 

(The meeting ended at 7.06 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 10



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the LICENSING COMMITTEE held in the Meeting Room 1, 
Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 19 April 2018 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

A Harrison (Chairman)
T A Carter (Vice-Chairman)

G R Aley
M D Booth
A Casson
G K Dark

C N Johnson
J L King
A M Newton
E J Sneath

J Tyrrell
Whitbourn

In Attendance: Licensing & Business Support Manager, Licensing Team Leader and 
Assistant Licensing Officer and Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors M G Chandler 
and H Drury.

12. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

13. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 November 2017 were signed as a correct 
record.

14. INTRODUCTIONS AND WELCOME 

The Committee welcomed and introduced the new Assistant Licensing Officer.

Councillor Jan Whitbourn was welcomed to the licensing Committee.

15. ANIMAL WELFARE REGULATION CHANGES 

The Licensing & Business Support Manager gave an update to the animal welfare 
licensing regime.

It was stated that draft regulations were published and awaiting final copy.

The summary was that some animal welfare licenses would be incorporated into 1 
license, meaning that animal-based businesses wouldn’t need to apply for several 
licences to cover all of their activities.

It was stated that the incoming changes applied to specified activities including, 
animal boarding, riding establishments, dog breeders and performing animals.

Page 11

Agenda Item 8.a)



- 2 -

LICENSING COMMITTEE - 19 April 2018

Members wanted to know what would happen to private sellers of rescue dogs, 
officers, stated that they believed regulation of this would fall under the new regime 
although yet to be determined.

It was stated by officers that a proposal was currently being lobbied in respect of 
puppy sales.

Members asked whether dog groomers would fall under the new regime, officers 
answered, no.

Members asked whether limits could be placed upon how many breeding dogs 
someone may own on a property. Officers answered that licensing rules allow for a 
level of restriction already, but that a current proposal was to tighten controls over 
this in the future.

Members asked what the proposal for fee rises was. Officers answered that they 
were currently awaiting the statutory guidance and regulations, and would them 
calculate the new fee structure accordingly. 

Members asked whether the authority could have a higher level of strictness than the 
basic conditions set by these regulations. Officers answered that they believed 
conditions would need to reflect those in law and were awaiting publication of these.

Members asked how litter sizes could be policed. Officers answered that businesses 
were asked to keep accurate records, but that enforcement was ‘an unknown’, and 
that there were thoughts that tougher regulations on breeders could force them 
underground. Officers mentioned that the Kennel Club had tightened their regulations 
surrounding breeders.

Members asked if the importation of dogs was commonplace. Officers answered that 
trading standards investigate illegal importation of dogs due to the rabies risk.

Members asked how long licenses were supplied for before they needed refreshing 
and asked whether the time limit before a refresh was required could be altered. 
Officers responded that they would use a risk assessment (which they are awaiting) 
to determine the risk of the premises/activity which would determine inspection 
frequency. 

Members asked if the breeding regulations covered other animals apart from dogs. 
Officers answered, no.

Members mentioned that the regulations covered the “sale of pets” and therefore 
should cover all animals. Officers mentioned that this only applied to sales.

Members asked if there were any expectations that the new regulations would lead to 
higher rates of animal abandonment. Officers stated that they had no evidence of this 
but that they felt it was unlikely because businesses would be losing profit by doing 
so.

Page 12



- 3 -

LICENSING COMMITTEE - 19 April 2018

Officers stated that some communications would be put out to the public and 
businesses in order to raise awareness of the new regulations.

Officers stated that they would have a look into the background discussion of the 
regulations to determine if any further protections were to be included in the final 
draft.

Members asked if now that the Licensing team had employed new staff, that there 
would be property visits to animal sites as there was for alcohol licenses. Officers 
answered that they already inspect animal establishments and the new regulations 
would not change this.

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

16. TAXI LICENSING UPDATES 

Officers stated that the taxi licensing laws were somewhat outdated. It was stated 
that the law commission had recognised this and had published a list of 
recommendations, some of which had been implemented.

It was stated that there was an all party parliamentary working group which published 
recommendations, including;

 Stopping cross-border hiring
 A National database of drivers
 Improved definition of “plying for hire”
 Improved charging facilities for electric cars.

2017 Urban transport Group was hoping for better enforcement of laws.

The Knowsley Borough Council Judicial review (amended policy to restrict their 
drivers to operate predominately in their own district) had been held to be unlawful in 
February 2018.

It was stated that “plying for hire” was not known to be a large issue in the South 
Holland District, largely because the industry was self-regulating and drivers were 
quick to report others. Officers monitor and investigate complaints.

Members asked if there were any charging points for electric vehicles in the district, 
officers responded that there were not, but that they believed a review was underway 
generally on this topic.

Officers stated that sections of the Equalities Act had been adopted which required 
businesses to provide a list of wheelchair accessible vehicles. It was mentioned that 
the Government was looking to strengthen local authorities’ response to this act by 
issuing some guidance.

Page 13



- 4 -

LICENSING COMMITTEE - 19 April 2018

Officers mentioned that there were plans in place to develop a training programme 
for drivers which included sections designed to improve compliance with the 
Equalities Act.

Members asked if there could be some communications around the list of disabled 
access vehicles, and that if it could be dispersed to social media and relevant groups. 
Officers responded that this was a definite possibility.

Safeguarding

Officers stated that in 2017 the government had accepted powers to issue statutory 
guidance on safeguarding children and vulnerable adults, but no date on the issuing 
of this had yet been given.

Members asked if there was any other training relating to what people should do if 
they become aware of a safeguarding concern. Officers responded that current 
training already included this. And that county council resources offered further 
information relating to this.

Driver database:

This was proposed by the local government association and the institute of licensing 
and was a national database of driver suspensions and revocations. It was originally 
due in May 2018, but had been delayed by a month.

Members asked if any progress had been made into determining drivers with health 
problems that would stop them from being a driver. Officers responded that the 
medical forms were being updated, but that it relied almost entirely upon drivers 
reporting it as they cannot make adhoc checks.

Members mentioned that she was surprised that the system did not allow for doctors 
to have to issue a sign off on drivers before licenses are issued. It was advised that 
the medical check does require GP sign off currently. 

Convictions and suitability policy

This was a national policy which aimed to promote a level of consistency to taxi 
licensing. It was designed to put in place a base level of standards on things such as 
points on licenses, which the Authority was happy to accept. This was due 
imminently after the meeting. It will be considered as part of the taxi policy review 
which members will be consulted upon..

RESOLVED:

That the update be noted.

17. LICENSING UPDATE 

There were no additional updates.

Page 14



- 5 -

LICENSING COMMITTEE - 19 April 2018

18. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT. 

There were none.

(The meeting ended at 7.26 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 16



- 3 -

Minutes of a meeting of the COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING AUTHORITY held in 
the Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 19 April 
2018 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

A Harrison (Chairman)
T A Carter (Vice-Chairman)

G R Aley
M D Booth
A Casson
G K Dark

C N Johnson
J L King
A M Newton
E J Sneath

J Tyrrell
Whitbourn

In Attendance:  Licensing & Business Support Shared Manager Shared, Licensing 
Team Leader, Assistant Licensing Officer and Democratic Services Officer

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors M G Chandler 
and H Drury 

14. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were no declarations of interest.

15. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 6 November 2017 were agreed as a correct 
record.

16. LICENSING ACT UPDATE 

The Licensing Team Leader provided an update to the Licensing Act

In regards to the Royal Wedding. Pub opening hours were being relaxed on Friday 8 
and Saturday 9 May and an order had been issued that allowed premises that sell 
food and alcohol to be open until 1am. It was stated that if a premises wished to 
employ any entertainment, then a separate temporary event license would have to be 
applied for.

An update was provided to the work that had been achieved over the last year, the 
following topics were included; 

 Immigration act – right to work checks.
 Equalities act.
 New sex establishments policy was in place.
 Street trading policy would be brought back to the committee.
 A new recruit had been employed to the licensing department.
 An officer had become the team leader between both authorities.
 Online applications implemented.

Page 17

Agenda Item 8.b)



- 4 -

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING 
AUTHORITY - 19 April 2018

 The ‘Get ready for Christmas’ Business event had taken place and was well 
attended.

 A cumulative impact policy had been investigated 
 Public protection team running safety advisory groups
 Contributed to national debate on moving some licensing responsibilities to 

planning
 Licensing consultation and pre-application advice now being promoted and 

available through EHTC
 Licensing training would soon be availableface to face rather than just online.
 The department has adopted an agile working policy

Hearings

There had been 2 premises licence reviews

There had been no taxi hearings

There had been a Home Boarder hearing

There had been a lower amount of hearings in the previous year but officers stated 
that they were expecting more reviews in the near future.

Members asked what the results of the punchbowl hearing was. It was answered that 
there was no appeal and the wife of Mr Williams had submitted a request to become 
the Designated Premises Supervisor. It was also mentioned that the time frame from 
both Mr Williams and the police to appeal had passed.

Members asked if there were any hearings planned in the future. Officers responded 
that they had no information on any, but that they were expecting the police to be 
proactive.

The Gambling Act statement of principles was due to be renewed in 2018 and will be 
published January 2019 following consultation.

Officers stated that the new Animal welfare legislation, taxi review and gambling act 
policy and street trading policy will be focussed on in 2018/19.

RESOLVED:

That the update be noted.

17. COMMITTEE TRAINING 

Members were reminded that the training was compulsory and was on 30 April 2018 
in Kings Lynn.

18. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT. 

Page 18



- 5 -

COMMITTEE OF THE LICENSING 
AUTHORITY - 19 April 2018

There were none.

(The meeting ended at 7.47 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council Chamber, Council Offices, 
Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 24 April 2018 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

G R Aley
J R Astill
F Biggadike
M D Booth
T A Carter
H Drury

L J Eldridge
A Harrison
J D McLean
A M Newton
J L Reynolds
M D Seymour

E J Sneath
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell
Whitbourn
A R Woolf

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors B Alcock, 
C J T H Brewis and J L King.

In Attendance:  The Executive Councillor, Commercial and Environmental 
Management at Lincolnshire County Council (Chairman of the Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership), the Portfolio Holder for Place (SHDC), the Senior Commissioning 
Officer (Waste) at Lincolnshire County Council, the Environmental Services Manager 
(SHDC) and the Democratic Services Officer.

Action By
30. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN 

Councillor A R Woolf was elected Chairman for the duration of the 
meeting.

31. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were no declarations of interest.

32. CONSULATION OF THE LINCOLNSHIRE JOINT MUNICIPAL 
WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 

The Senior Commissioning Officer (Waste) at Lincolnshire County 
Council provided the Joint Panel with a presentation.  It provided 
information on the following:

 Who formed the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP);
 Which waste functions were undertaken by which partner of 

the LWP;
 Strategic Drivers to the proposed Strategy;
 Vision for the Strategy;
 Process for consultation on the Strategy, how the Strategy 

would be finalised and actioned; and
 Members roles in the process

Page 21

Agenda Item 8.c)



- 2 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 April 2018

Members of the Joint Panel had also received a report, appended 
to which were the Strategy consultation draft, the Strategy 
consultation draft (summary), and the Waste Strategy Public 
Consultation Survey.

Members considered the information from the report and the 
presentation, and the following issues were raised.  Responses 
were provided by a panel of officers and members consisting of 
the Executive Councillor, Commercial and Environmental 
Management at Lincolnshire County Council (who was in 
attendance in his capacity as the Chairman of the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership); the Portfolio Holder for Place (SHDC); the 
Senior Commissioning Officer (Waste) at Lincolnshire County 
Council; and the Environmental Services Manager (SHDC).

 The Portfolio Holder Place stated that the proposed Strategy 
would lay out high level ambitions and goals.  SHDC was out 
of step with neighbouring local authorities with regard to waste 
collection, but the Authority would hold with the principle of 
responding to what local residents said as part of the 
consultation.  If change was proposed, a significant body of 
evidence would be required to illustrate why changes were 
being made. The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership was 
currently in the early stages of considering processes for 
waste collection and recycling.  The main priority was to get 
best value for Council Tax payers, and trying to keep costs 
down while being tuned in to residents wishes.

 SHDC was unique in the area in undertaking weekly waste 
and recycling collections in sacks.  Would this continue?

o Weekly collections could continue if this was the 
preferred option. Once all issues had been 
considered, and where there was sufficient evidence 
to be presented to elected members, current 
collection methods could continue, despite cost, if 
members were happy to continue as currently.  The 
purpose of the partnership was to make most 
effective use of resources however, waste collection 
was still a local choice.

o Officers also clarified that legislation meant that the 
waste collection authority decided how waste would 
be collected.  The disposal authority stipulated 
where it was dropped off.

Page 22



- 3 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 April 2018

 Incorrect items being placed in waste and recycling bags 
continued to be a problem.  This problem had to be overcome 
for the Strategy to work well.  What could be done to help 
educate the public?

o Contamination in recycling was a problem and going 
forward, consideration needed to be given to 
ensuring that only products that did not cross-
contaminate were put together.  Instructions for the 
public needed to be kept simple – this was not 
necessarily the case presently.  Clear instructions of 
what could go in each bag was required.  

 An action plan was not included as part of the consultation – it 
was suggested that by having sight of this, it would be easier 
for respondents to see how proposals may affect them.

o The consultation process had specifically not 
included an action plan as the consultation aimed to 
produce ideas and opinions.  Officers would use 
these ideas and opinions to produce an action plan 
using responses that were felt to be feasible and 
affordable.

 Why was the Strategy being looked at now, before the 
outcomes of Brexit and how legislation may be affected was 
known?

o There were many factors affecting waste issues, not 
only Brexit. The LWP had not had a new Strategy 
for many years, hence the need for one now. In 
addition, the Partnership did not want a stationary 
strategy – it would to be responsive and would not 
be a static document.  

 Table 5.18 within the draft Consultation document  (providing 
information on residual and total waste vs recycling rates for 
local authorities in Lincolnshire in 2016/17) showed that 
household waste reused, recycled  or composted within SHDC 
was the lowest of all authorities in the County.  Could other 
districts’ practices be used to improve SHDC’s figures? 

o Other authorities included garden waste tonnage in 
their figures which accounted for much of their 
higher rates.  SHDCs figure of 28% was a good 
representative figure however, contamination issues 
were a problem – this needed to be looked at but 
money was required to do this. 

Page 23



- 4 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 April 2018

 Could the Authority be fined for not hitting targets?
o No, it was a national target and SHDC contributed to 

this as a whole.  Targets were not necessarily the 
best measure, it was more important to do the right 
thing and recycling needed to be dealt with in the 
correct way.

 How could the message relating to waste/recycling/littering be 
communicated, both to the indigenous population and those 
residents whose first language was not English?

o This was an issue and sometimes cultural 
differences were more of a problem than language.  
These messages generally needed to be 
communicated but would be one of the most difficult 
to address.

o Education in schools would  be important, with 
children spreading the message.  

 Could engagement with businesses be undertaken e.g. what 
were businesses doing to reduce waste or, from a commercial 
perspective, could digestion plants take product in?

o There were a number of issues with anaerobic 
digestion, including the need for a consistent 
feedstock, the exact makeup of which varied 
between facilities.   

o Officers reiterated that there was a real desire to do 
something productive with the waste collected, and 
going forward, viable options needed to be 
investigated.

 Real efforts needed to be made in clearing up the District – the 
public had to be educated in disposing of waste correctly, and 
fines given to those that fly-tipped and littered.  

o Members were advised that two Community Warden 
posts had been created and appointments to these 
posts made – funding for these posts was for two 
years. Their prime role was to issue fixed penalty 
notices to those that littered, and an increase in 
fines should be seen at a local level.

 Could people be incentivised to recycle?
o Education was the main factor – this had been 

scaled back over the years at a local level, but it 
was hoped that one of the outcomes of a new 
Strategy would be a greater focus on education. 

Page 24



- 5 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 April 2018

 Over the years, there had been a number of changes to the 
way in which recycling was undertaken.  There was a real 
feeling that the public wanted to be ‘greener’ and recycle 
effectively.  Ways needed to be found to engage with the 
public in this respect and make it easier for them.

o Consistency of collections was more important than 
how it was undertaken by different authorities.  The 
current combination of materials collected could be 
changed, and there were many combinations and 
collection methods available.  It was important to 
gain an idea of the desire/commitment to change 
and then officers/members would work out how this 
could be taken forward.  

o Members were of the opinion that recycling should 
be split, keeping glass, metal and plastics together, 
separate from paper and cardboard, but collected 
on the same days.

Members thanked officers for the information provided.  Officers 
advised that, in addition to the points raised in the meeting, 
members should also respond individually to the consultation:

The link to the Lincolnshire Joint Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy consultation web page was:
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-
strategy-for-lincolnshire/

The email address for queries was:
wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk

AGREED:

a) That the contents of the report and appendices be noted;

b) That the following issues raised by the Joint Panel be taken 
forward:

 Educating residents was seen as an essential tool in 
reducing littering, and increasing the uptake of valid 
recycling;

 Enforcement - encourage the public not to litter or fly tip 
and where possible, fine perpetrators;

 Keep recycling processes simple – the national mood to be 
‘greener’ should be harnessed and the most cost effective 
and environmentally friendly solutions should be sought;

Page 25

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/QsmPC9Qvvuk74KwiOAHyK?domain=lincolnshire.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/QsmPC9Qvvuk74KwiOAHyK?domain=lincolnshire.gov.uk
mailto:wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk


- 6 -

JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 24 April 2018

 The Portfolio Holder Place and the Environmental Services 
Team to look at how glass, metal and plastics could be 
collected with paper and cardboard but kept separate;

 Continuity of collections; and

c) That members respond on an individual basis to the 
consultation on the draft Lincolnshire Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy. 

33. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were no urgent items.

(The meeting ended at 8.31 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 26



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Council 
Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 1 May 2018 at 6.30 
pm.

PRESENT

A R Woolf (Chairman)
J D McLean (Vice-Chairman)

D Ashby
J R Astill
F Biggadike

L J Eldridge
A Harrison
A M Newton

E J Sneath
J Tyrrell

In Attendance:  The Portfolio Holder for Public Protection, the Food, Health & Safety 
Manager, the Shared Executive Manager – Governance, the Shared Executive 
Manager – People and Public Protection, the Democratic Services Manager and 
Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors M D Booth, 
J L King and J L Reynolds 

Action By
48. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting of the Policy Development Panel held 
on 20 February 2018 were agreed as a correct record.

49. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were no declarations of interest.

50. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6 

There were none.

51. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were no tracking of recommendations to consider.

52. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL 

There were none.

53. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan published on 
23 April 2018.

Page 27

Agenda Item 8.d)



- 2 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 1 May 
2018

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted.

54. POLICY REGISTER 

The Panel gave consideration to the Policy Register that was 
dated 6 April 2018.

The Chairman stated that the register was developing well and 
items were being progressed. 

AGREED:

That the Policy Register be noted.

55. CORPORATE ENFORCEMENT POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Public Protection which presented a revised version of the 
Corporate Enforcement Policy.

The Portfolio Holder for Public Protection introduced the policy 
stating that it was important to have an up to date enforcement 
policy. The Portfolio Holder also mentioned that the current policy 
was outdated and in need of review. It was stated that the Policy 
was a joint Breckland-South Holland Policy.

Members stated that the Policy Development Panel had been 
attempting to streamline and simplify policies. They stated that 
they felt that some parts of the policy report could be summarised.  
However, they stated that the detail in the policy was good.  The 
Food, Health and Safety Manager replied that the framework was 
taken from the Department of Business Innovation and Skills and 
was a template used by local authorities nationally.

Panel members questioned whether the Policy was strict enough 
and asked how the policy would be enforced. Officers replied that 
there were many possible avenues of enforcement including 
intervention work, but spanning all the way to Court. They stated 
that they felt that intervention work was best as it was cost 
effective and preventative. Officers stated that they were keen to 
continue assisting businesses to be compliant.  The policy gave 
officers the full suite of possibilities for enforcement, but it was 
hoped a fair balance of enforcement could be struck. 

Members advised that they looked forward to a more robust 
approach to everyday breaches such as littering, in order to stop 

Page 28



- 3 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 1 May 
2018

such problems. Officers stated that the authority had an 
Enforcement Officer for such breaches, but that the ability to 
enforce was limited by logistical constraints.  They also stated that 
they were keen to see that complaints from the public of issues 
such as littering, were kept under control. 

Members asked that communications be used to raise awareness 
of the policy. 

Members asked that the policy be reviewed in 6 months time. 
They also stated that they felt that changes in statistics of such 
things as fixed penalty notices could be used to measure 
success.

Officers confirmed that the policy template would most probably 
have been tested legally more than once. Officers recognised the 
Panel’s desire to keep policies short. Whilst it might be possible to 
streamline policies, it was recommended that the document 
should not diverge much from the template.

Members agreed with Officers and stated that they felt the 
Authority needed the fuller version of the Policy.

AGREED:

a) That the report be recommended to Cabinet.

b) That the Corporate Enforcement Policy be reviewed in 6 
months time, with statistics presented relating to enforcement 
of littering and fly-tipping.

(The Portfolio Holder Public Protection and the Food, Health & 
Safety Manager left the meeting following discussion of the above 
item).

PA, DS, SS 

56. HOUSING ALLOCATION POLICY 

With the agreement of the Chairman, this item was withdrawn 
from the agenda, to be discussed at the next meeting.

DS, GW 

57. DATA PROTECTION POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the shared Executive 
Manager – Governance and Data Protection Officer which 
outlined the details of the proposed Data Protection Policy.

Officers thanked the Data Protection and Data Retention Task 
Group for their help formulating the Policy. It was stated that the 

Page 29



- 4 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 1 May 
2018

policy had been based upon a precedent and therefore was 
legally sound.

Officers requested that the Data Protection Task Group continue 
for another 12 months to oversee the implementation of GDPR.

AGREED:

a) That the new draft Data Protection Policy, Data Security 
Breach Procedure and Response Procedures for Data 
Subject Requests be recommended to Cabinet for 
approval and adoption; and

b) That the Data Protection and Data Retention Task Group 
continues to meet until May 2019 in order to provide 
oversight of progress towards compliance with the General 
Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and to consider 
ancillary matters such as data retention. 

DS, MS 

58. COUNCILLOR DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Governance and Customer and the Executive Manager – 
Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) which presented the 
Councillor and Local Democracy Development Strategy.

The Strategy had been developed by the Councillor Development 
Steering Group and was designed to shape development needs 
and align with the corporate plan.

Members requested that feedback from previous training courses 
be examined to ensure there was not a repeat of some of the less 
well received training courses. Officers replied that there would be 
a training needs analysis of members to pinpoint what training 
was needed.

Officers stated that the Councillor Development Steering Group 
had been keen to investigate more forms of training, such as e-
learning which would be more flexible. 

Officers stated that it was hoped to include training resources for 
members, accessible at any time, on the planned members 
intranet.  Additionally, the possibilities of further training 
innovation was mentioned. This included recorded training 
sessions posted online.

AGREED:

Page 30



- 5 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 1 May 
2018

a) That the Panel review the draft Strategy;

b) That the Panel consider the Strategy’s alignment with the 
Corporate Plan and Transformation Programme;

c) That the Panel make recommendations for change as 
appropriate to the Chairman of the Steering Group for its 
consideration and action.

59. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager – 
Governance, which set out the Work Programme of the Policy 
Development Panel. The Work Programme consisted of two 
separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the future 
Panel meetings along with proposed items for consideration, and 
the second setting out the Task Groups that had been identified 
by the Panel.

Officers asked if the Panel was happy with the size of the next 
meeting. Members agreed that they were happy with the Work 
Programme’s content. The Chairman of the Panel stated that the 
meeting should go ahead as planned with the full Work 
Programme.

Public Open Spaces Task Group

 The Task Group Chairman stated that its work was almost 
complete and would possibly require one more meeting.

 Members raised the issue that the date included on the 
appendix was wrong by a year, in that it should have been 
2017, not 2016.

Data Protection and Data Retention Task Group

 The Task Group was still active and it had been agreed that it 
would continue for a further 12 months.

AGREED:

That the Work Programme be noted

DS, GW 

60. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were none.

Page 31



- 6 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 1 May 
2018

(The meeting ended at 7.31 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 32



- 31 -

Minutes of a meeting of the PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL held in the 
Council Chamber, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Wednesday, 2 May 
2018 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

B Alcock (Chairman)
M D Booth (Vice-Chairman)

G R Aley
J R Astill
C J T H Brewis

T A Carter
P C Foyster
J D McLean

A M Newton
A C Tennant
J Whitbourn

In Attendance: The Portfolio Holder Communities and Facilities, the Portfolio Holder 
Housing and Health, the Executive Director Commercialisation, the Place Manager, 
the Communities Manager, the Environmental Services Manager, the Building 
Consultancy Manager, the Emergency Planning Officer, the Acting Inward Investment 
Manager, the Senior Business Intelligence Officer, the Finance Accountant, the 
Democratic Services Officer and Detective Chief Superintendent Chris Davison.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors G K Dark, 
J L King and M D Seymour.

Action By
48 DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were no declarations of interest. 

49 CRIME AND DISORDER UPDATE 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place which provided members with an update on community 
safety partnership work at a County and local level.

There had been fundamental changes in the structure of the 
county community safety partnership arrangements during 2017, 
and these were outlined within the report in addition to an update 
on the local multi-agency work.  The Safer Lincolnshire 
Partnership (SLP) was the name of the multi-agency community 
safety partnership.

Detective Chief Superintendent Chris Davison, the Portfolio 
Holder Communities and Facilities and the Communities Manager 
were in attendance to provide further information and answer the 
Panel’s questions.  The following issues were raised:

 Members had frequently asked for information from the CCTV 
cameras – it was appreciated that this had now been provided 
to the Panel, and it was asked that the report should now go to 

EH 

Page 33

Agenda Item 8.e)



- 32 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

Parish Councils.
o Officers confirmed that this information could be 

shared with Parish Councils. 

 PCSOs were a valuable presence in the area. What was the 
financial picture for the remainder of the financial year, and 
was the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) lobbying hard 
for a rural police presence?

o The Detective Chief Superintendent commented 
that the PCSOs role was very valuable – they were 
the eyes and ears of the Police. With regard to the 
general overall financial picture, this was the remit of 
the PCC however it was confirmed that funding was 
secured for the current financial year. He also 
confirmed that the PCC was lobbying for funding for 
rural forces, and was this week speaking to the 
relevant Minister in Central Government on this 
matter. 

 The report suggests some involvement with, for example, 
perpetrators of antisocial behaviour, and their families.  If 
issues were dealt with at an earlier stage, many problems 
could potentially be avoided. 

o Early intervention was the main focus of the 
partnership.   Rather than trying to deal with issues 
at the point of failure, it was important that issues 
were focussed on at an earlier stage.  There needed 
to be more preventative work. 

 Was Operation REPEAT (Reinforcing Elderly Persons 
Education at All Times), referred to within the report, already 
underway?

o Training for practitioners had been undertaken last 
year, and additional training was planned over the 
summer.

 Within the report, begging and vagrancy was identified (along 
with other issues) as an example of anti-social behaviour.  It 
was important that this was not seen purely as anti-social 
behaviour, and that people were given the help and support 
that they may require.

o The Detective Chief Superintendent agreed that 
begging and vagrancy was not purely a policing 
matter.  It was a complex issue, and appropriate 
partnership mechanisations were in place to tackle 
issues.

 Reducing Offending – what was being done across the range 

Page 34



- 33 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

of offenders?
o The Detective Chief Superintendent stated that 

there were very few offenders who only committed 
one type of crime and therefore, dealing with the 
issue by crime type was ineffective.  It was more 
effective to deal with the individual and the 
circumstances around them.

 It had been stated that PCSOs were  the Police’s eyes and 
ears.  The Incidents Summary Analysis appended to the report 
did not appear to bear this out – the number of incidents 
reported by PCSOs seemed very low in comparison to other 
reporters.  

o The Detective Chief Superintendent stated that he 
would pick this up with the local inspector.

 How would consultation with the public of the SLP’s work be 
undertaken? 

o The Detective Chief Superintendent stated that 
communication was important and that historically, 
partnerships had not communicated what they did, 
and the results of what it did in an effective way. It 
was also important to clarify actual crime against the 
perception of actual crime.  The PCC had a specific 
mandate to reflect the views of people in the area.  
Various methods of consultation such as surveys, 
neighbourhood panels and specific events to invite 
the public to contribute could be undertaken.  It was 
necessary to engage people online as well as with 
more traditional events.  

 The report referred to information sharing - what did this 
entail?

o The Detective Chief Superintendent replied that all 
agencies needed to share information in order to 
deal with specific issues. To work in a meaningful 
way, it was necessary that information on 
individuals, and issues surrounding them, could be 
shared.

 Did the partnership involve volunteer organisations, and 
did information sharing also include them?

o The Detective Chief Superintendent advised that the 
Safer Lincolnshire Partnership, at Strategy Board 
level, included all these partners.  Charitable and 
third sectors would need to be engaged going 
forward, but currently those partners with statutory 
duties were the main bodies to engage.

Page 35



- 34 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

 Was the Partnership undertaking any preventative work with 
schools? 

o The Detective Chief Superintendent reported that a 
Joint Diversionary Panel had already been 
developed which looked at each outcome around a 
child to ensure that a child was not being 
unnecessarily criminalised, and that meaning 
activity was being undertaken.

 Two Community Wardens had been secured by the Authority 
through the Controlling Migration Fund.  Had these two roles 
been considered in light of the partnership’s work?

o The Detective Chief Superintendent advised that the 
partnership would share information of initiatives 
and share best practice across the county.

 Younger children needed to understand the repercussions of 
low level anti-social behaviour.  Were there any initiatives to 
address this?

o The Detective Chief Superintendent agreed, and 
advised that there was a Stay Safe partnership 
which delivered these messages. In addition, the 
Joint Diversionary Panel ensured that  activity 
undertaken was meaningful. 

Members requested that a further update report be provided to 
the Panel in six months time, and that the following information be 
included:

 Evidence of publicity around initiatives;
 Progress of the key initiatives; 

AGREED:

a) That the content of the report be noted; and

b) That a further update report be provided to the Panel in six 
months time, to include information on the following:

 Evidence of publicity around the LSP’s initiatives;
 Details of progress in the key initiatives 

EH, CM 

50 SWIMMING POOL AND LEISURE FACILITIES CONTRACT 
TASK GROUP 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place which provided members with an update on the 

Page 36



- 35 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

recommendations of the Swimming Pool and Leisure Facilities 
Contract Task Group.  The Task Group had presented its 
recommendations to Cabinet in November 2016, and the Panel 
had since been provided with two progress updates.

The Communities Manager highlighted the following:

 There were still some issues around the timeliness of 
maintenance, and this was still an area of focus;

 There continued to be regular engagement with users;
 Regular inspection visits were undertaken and tracked;
 The Communities Manager was due to meet the Contract 

Manager the next day and would be raising any issues; 
 Attendance figures were down, due to maintenance issues – 

this would be addressed;
 Future leisure options (update required, as detailed in 

recommendations at Appendix A) – members were advised 
that a short term leisure contract, to run from March 2019, was 
being sought.  Invitations to tender would be sent in May 2018, 
reviewed in August 2018 and members would be updated 
November 2018.

The Panel considered the information and the following issues 
were raised:

 The drop in attendance was disappointing.  The Panel would 
be looking at future update reports to monitor this.

 Officers had stated that the new contract was due to 
commence 1 March 2019, for a five year term, with the option 
of a two year extension.  Members had not been aware of the 
extension option.

o Officers responded that the initial five year 
management contract was to allow the Authority to 
progress to the next stage with regard to future 
leisure provision.  The optional two years extension 
would provide some leeway if required however, 
officers were confident that the five years should be 
sufficient and the extension would not be required.

 Customer feedback information was given within the report – 
how did this compare to last quarter?

o Officers were unable to provide the information but 
advised that it would be included in the future.

 Members responded that customer feedback for previous 
periods should be included in future reports for comparison 
purposes.

EH 

Page 37



- 36 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

 In response to a question regarding the GP Referral 
Programme, officers clarified that this had been successful 
and was centred around health issues such as back care and 
obesity.  The programme had previously been funded through 
LCC Public Health but was now run at the provider’s own cost.

 With regard to the full boiler replacement in 2018, officers 
clarified that replacement parts were the responsibility of 
SHDC and repairs were the responsibility of 1Life.

 Members questioned whether a number of unscheduled visits 
per month could be undertaken rather than pre-announced 
visits.

o Officers responded that weekly inspections were 
being undertaken which had been beneficial in 
keeping standards up.  There was no fixed time or 
pre-warning of these visits.  The number of visits 
could potentially reduce to a couple of visits per 
month.

 Members responded that the number of visits could be 
determined by the service but they would not wish for control 
to be relaxed.  

It was requested that the report to the next meeting address 
visitor numbers and complaints – both positive and negative 
comments should be considered, and the negative comments 
understood.  

AGREED:

a) That the content of the report be noted; and

b) That a further update report be considered in six months time, 
addressing the issues raised by the Panel.

(The Portfolio Holder Communities and Facilities, the 
Communities Manager and the Detective Chief Superintendent 
left the meeting following discussion of this item). 

EH, CM 

51 REVIEW OF HOUSING ALLOCATIONS POLICY 

With the agreement of the Chairman, this item was withdrawn 
from the agenda, to be discussed at the next Panel meeting. 

MC 

52 RE-LETTING OF VOID PROPERTIES TASK GROUP 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place which presented an update on the current situation relating 

Page 38



- 37 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

to void properties.  A Task Group looking at the re-letting of void 
properties had presented its recommendations to the Cabinet on 
25 July 2017, where it had been agreed these recommendations 
be incorporated within the Place Review.

At the Panel’s last meeting, members had considered housing 
voids as part of the Quarter 3 2017-18 Performance Overview 
Report.  Voids had been highlighted as an area for improvement, 
members were unhappy with this performance and had requested 
that the issue come forward to this meeting to be considered 
alongside performance against the Task Group’s 
recommendations.

Officers advised that the report detailed progress made to date 
however, there was still work to be done.  Members considered 
the report and the following issues were raised:

 What work was still to be done?
o Members were advised that there were issues 

around bringing properties back into use, and this 
linked to the Allocations Policy.  Another issue was 
how processes and policies around areas such as 
recharges were managed, and how tenants were 
advised of their responsibilities.  Work was being 
undertaken on addressing these areas, and a new 
team was taking some of these forward.  Further 
information would be provided in reports that would 
be brought to the Panel in July.

 Councillors that had been part of the Re-Letting of Void 
Properties Task Group were disappointed with progress. The 
Task Group had submitted its Final Report and 
recommendations in July 2017, and it was felt that there was 
no great improvement in performance.  Letting times, when 
compared to the same quarter last year, appeared to be 
worsening.

o Officers responded that targets were being missed, 
but only slightly.  A significant number of properties 
had been let during this time, and these were not 
failing.  The Authority was delivering properties to 
tenants in need, and there were some successes.    

 Members responded that the entire process appeared to be 
taking longer than the same period the previous year.  

 The tenancy and recharge polices were currently under review 
– were the current policies satisfactory and when would the 
reviewed ones be in place.

o Officers responded that the reviews were almost 

Page 39



- 38 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

complete, and that the recharge policy was being 
looked at again. 

 Members felt that the current performance was not 
encouraging and that significant improvement was required in 
the near future, given that the Voids Task Group had 
concluded its work some time ago.  Housing allocations and 
voids were interrelated issues interrelated and an update on 
both was therefore requested at next meeting. 

o Officers responded that the report to the next 
meeting would provide more context to the current 
situation.

AGREED:

a) That the report of the Executive Director Place be noted;  
and

b) That a further update report on housing allocations and 
void properties be provided to the next meeting of the 
Panel, to provide information on performance and context 
on the background relating to these issues.

(The Portfolio Holder Housing and Health and the Executive 
Manager People and Public Protection left the meeting following 
discussion of this meeting.)   

PS, CM 

53 MINUTES 

AGREED:

a) The minutes of the meeting of the Joint Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel held on 25 
January 2018 were signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record;

b) The minutes of the meeting of the Performance Monitoring 
Panel held on 6 February 2018 were signed by the Chairman 
as a correct record.

c) That officers liaise with the Chairman of the Panel regarding 
any outstanding issues. 

54 QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6 

There were no questions asked under Standing Order 6. 

55 TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

Page 40



- 39 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

There were no responses of the Cabinet to consider. 

56 ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL. 

There were no items referred from the Policy Development Panel. 

57 KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan issued on 23 
April 2018.

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan issued on 23 April 2018 be noted. 

58 QUARTER 4 2017-18 PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW REPORT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director, 
Strategy and Governance which provided an update on Council 
performance for the period 1 January 2018 to 31 March 2018.

Quarter 4 saw performance drop slightly in comparison to Quarter 
3.  Performance was rated as ‘moderate’ with 10 indicators being 
green (48%) which indicated good performance.  There were 4 
(14%) amber indicators and 8 red indicators (38%); highlighting 
lower than expected performance.  There were 6 indicators which 
were classified as data only – this meant that they were monitored 
without requiring a target.

In discussing the report, the following key points emerged:

 With regard to sickness reporting, it was suggested that 
changes be made to make it easier to show the proportion of 
days lots to the Authority.

 Staff turnover and exit information – members asked if a 
summary of exit surveys could be provided in future reporting.

o Officers would liaise with Human Resources in order 
to provide as much detail as possible, and this 
would be included within the next update report.

AGREED:

That the report be noted.

(The Senior Business Intelligence Officer left the meeting 

CP 

Page 41



- 40 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

following discussion of the above item). 

59 SECTION 106 MONIES 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place which provided information on how Section 106 monies 
were constructed, negotiated and monitored, as requested by the 
Panel at its meeting in August 2017.

The report provided an explanation of what S106 agreements 
were, the circumstances under which they were appropriate, the 
implications of the emerging Local Plan policy framework, and the 
outcomes of the assurance review undertaken in December 2017.  
The report also provided information relating to ongoing 
workstreams, these including a comprehensive review of all S106 
agreements, the monitoring of trigger points (both financial and 
non-financial), and the identification of responsible officers.

Officers emphasised that as S106 agreements were concluded at 
the time permission was granted, there was often a considerable 
time lapse between that point and the commencement or 
conclusion of development.  This was particularly pertinent in 
relation to the larger schemes which could take a number of years 
to commence.  Once commenced, the larger schemes were 
generally constructed over a protracted time frame.  There was 
therefore a need to ensure that the process of monitoring S106 
agreements was robust and that it focussed on monitoring both 
on-site commencement and appropriate trigger points.  Officers 
undertook to provide a further report to the Panel in six months 
time, this addressing the issues identified above and providing a 
comprehensive oversight of S106 agreements currently in place 
across the District.

The Panel considered the information provided, and the following 
issues were raised: 

 Had any monies not been spent within the appropriate time 
period of any S106 agreements, and if so, had the monies 
gone back to the developer?

o Officers confirmed that no S106 monies had been 
returned.

 Forward planning with regard to spend of S106 monies (rather 
than waiting until monies were received) and how it could be 
used effectively was necessary e.g. could S106 monies be 
used to contribute to an improved bus service in Spalding?  

o Officers responded that the monies associated with 
any particular agreement could only be utilised in 

Page 42



- 41 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

connection with the requirement of the agreement 
itself, unless agreed otherwise by the developer.  
Amendments would generally require a formal 
amendment to the agreement itself.  In relation to 
the bus provision associated with the ongoing 
Holland Park development, the triggers for transport 
provision had been determined at the time the 
application was approved in direct consultation with 
the County Council.

 The Authority should liaise with Parish Councils before 
allocating open space, as they were often the bodies that 
maintained it and knew where it was most needed.

o Officers responded that open space provision 
negotiated in connection with any development 
scheme was part and parcel of the application 
process.  The Parish Councils were directly involved 
in this consultative process.  In cases where open 
space provision was made off-site, officers would 
liaise with both the applicant and/or developer, 
together with the Parish Council to ensure that 
appropriate provision was made – and that this 
included appropriate arrangements for ongoing 
maintenance.

AGREED:

a) That the report be noted; and

b) That a further report be submitted to the Panel in six months 
time providing information on the following areas:

 An overview of existing S106 agreements;
 An explanation of the main trigger points;
 The identification of an officer responsible for monitoring 

the terms of the agreement, particularly the 
commencement of works;

 The mechanism for ensuring that monies associated with 
S106 agreements were secured in accordance with the 
terms of the agreement;

 The identification of any officer responsible for ensuring 
that financial contributions were spent accordingly and 
within prescribed timescales;

 The approach taken to ensuring members were regularly 
updated on S106 matters. 

RF, PJ, CM 

60 EMERGENCY RESPONSE 

Page 43



- 42 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place which provided information on how the Authority would 
respond in an emergency situation.

Under the Civil Contingencies Act (CCA) 2004, South Holland 
District Council, as a Category 1 responder, had a duty to have 
plans in place to respond to and support an emergency, whilst at 
the same time maintaining its essential services to the local 
community.  The Authority had a document entitled ‘The Place – 
Emergency Response and Business Continuity Plan – 2017/18’ 
which detailed the process of how it would react in an emergency.

The Panel considered the information detailed within the report, 
and the following issues arose:

 The success of the Authority’s response depended upon the 
first contact – when reported, would there be a suitably 
qualified  individual available to respond to the call?  

o Officers advised that there would be, that there was 
24 hour telephone coverage, and that this was 
staffed on a rota basis.  

 Members responded that the Authority’s out of hours number 
was not as good as it should be – would the emergency 
response line be better?

o Officers advised that there had been some initial 
problems when the LCC line had been set up 
however, these had now been resolved however, if 
there were any issues, officers at South Holland 
would be advised of any reported emergency..  

 Members asked how the public could be made aware of what 
number to call in the event of any emergency.

o If an individual rang the Council telephone number, 
they would hear a message with the Emergency 
Response contact number.  The telephone number 
was also advertised on the entrance doors to the 
Council.  Then a call was answered, the issue would 
be diverted to the correct body.

 Members asked if the processes put in place would still work, 
as the Authority was opting out of county wide service level 
agreement.  

o Officers responded that the Authority was not on its 
own, as it was still a member of the Lincolnshire 
Resilience Forum.  

 Was there a direct role for the local community as part of the 
emergency plan? 

Page 44



- 43 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

o Individuals could join local action group, with their 
views being fed back.  The Emergency Planning 
Officer would make contact with the groups and 
support them where they could.  

 Members responded that this needed to happen soon.  There 
were many people willing to get involved however, due to lack 
of information, this interest was waning.  In addition, some 
areas did not have a local action group. 

 The Portfolio Holder Place advised that the main role of the 
Emergency Planning Officer would initially be to ensure that 
the Authority had the resilience that it had been lacking. 
Lincolnshire County Council was the primary emergency 
authority, and even though South Holland District Council had 
withdrawn from the SLA, it would still covered by LCC as it 
was the County Council’s statutory duty.  Community groups 
would also be supported, with their position being clarified.

Members requested that Terms of Reference be clarified, that a 
further report be presented to the Panel once this had been 
resolved, and that officers contact voluntary groups. 

AGREED:

a) That the report be noted; and

b) That officer provide a further report to the Panel once Terms of 
Reference with regard to Emergency Planning had been 
clarified, and that officers contact local action groups.

(The Portfolio Holder Place, the Communities Manager, the 
Building Consultancy Manager and the Emergency Planning 
Officer left the meeting following discussion of this item). 

ES, KB, CB 

61 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation, which provided an update on Economic 
Development over the last six months.

In discussing the report, the following key points arose;

 It was important to attract new businesses, and also to 
appreciate existing ones.

o Officers responded that the Open for Business 
agenda was being brought forward, demonstrating 
the Council’s desire to speak to businesses and 
gain feedback.

Page 45



- 44 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

 An event involving schools was being considered for later in 
the year, with the aim of working towards addressing the skills 
shortage.

 Members asked whether there had been any discussions with 
regard to the railway station, and the new franchise?

o To date, this had not taken place, as there could be 
no meaningful  conversation until it was known who 
the franchise would be awarded to.  The Authority 
needed to be prepared for when this did happen.

 Members asked whether there had been any feedback from 
businesses with regard to traffic problems, and whether any of 
them had been affected.  

o Although officers knew of the traffic problems, they 
were not aware of any feedback from businesses.  A 
traffic survey was currently underway, and it was 
important for the Authority to engage with Highways 
on the results of this.

 Members commented that the following points should be 
made with regard to road improvements in the area: 1) That 
the A16 was important as it connected the area and the food 
industries; and 2) Although the A17 carried a large amount of 
traffic out of the district, it was a major distributor of local 
produce around the country.   

o Officers responded that the LEPP and LCC were 
regularly lobbied with regard to infrastructure issues.

 Members requested that a further update report be provided in 
six months time to advise of progress in the intervening period.

AGREED:

a) That the report be noted; and

b) That a further update report be presented to the Panel in six 
months time. 

NB, CM 

62 COMMERCIALISATION 

The Executive Director Commercialisation provided the Panel 
with a presentation on the Council’s Delivery Programme, and 
how Commercialisation opportunities were being considered by 
the Delivery Unit.

Following the presentation, the following issues were raised:

Page 46



- 45 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

 Was the Authority on target to achieve the financial income 
identified from  commercialisation?

o Yes, this was on target and was likely to exceed 
predictions due to the Crease Drove and DWP 
projects not being included in the original forecasts. 

 What was the situation with regard to staff resourcing of 
commercialisation.  Historically, this had been an issue – had 
this now been overcome?

o Recruiting was currently underway for a HRA team 
to support the HRA Programme, and a large number 
of permanent staff were now in previously interim 
posts. There was still a need for some specialist 
help, but the Authority was now in a better position 
with regard to the resourcing of commercialisation.  
As the initiative was accelerated in the future, there 
may be a need to increase resource, and members 
would be updated if this was to happen. 

 Members commented that the presentation provided broad 
information which was helpful however, the Panel may want to 
look at particular issues in more detail.

o Officers responded that if the Panel had any 
particular projects it wished to scrutinise in more 
depth, that relevant officers be advised.

 The Chairman requested that as individual issues emerged as 
potential projects, that the Panel be advised in order that it 
could consider them in more detail if required.

AGREED:

a) That the presentation be noted; and

b) That as potential projects arose, officers advise the Panel in 
order that it could consider if it wished to scrutinise them in 
more detail. 

RH, MH, 
CM 

63 PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager 
Governance, which set out the Work Programme of the 
Performance Monitoring Panel.  The Work Programme consisted 
of three separate sections, the first setting out the dates of the 
future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration, and the second setting out the Task Groups that 
had been identified by the Panel.

Page 47



- 46 -

PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL - 2 
May 2018

AGREED:

That the Work Programme report provided by the Executive 
Manager Governance be noted. 

64 ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT 

There were no urgent items. 

(The meeting ended at 9.00 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 48



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held in the Council Chamber, 
Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Wednesday, 9 May 2018 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

R Gambba-Jones (Chairman)
J Avery (Vice-Chairman)

B Alcock
D Ashby
C J T H Brewis
P E Coupland

L J Eldridge
R Grocock
C J Lawton
J L Reynolds

M D Seymour
A C Tennant
J Tyrrell
P A Williams

In Attendance: Councillor Casson, Councillor Chandler, Councillor Whitbourn, Senior 
Planning Lawyer, Development Manager and Planning and Building Control Manager 
and Democratic Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillor H Drury. 

The Senior Planning Lawyer reported that notification had been received that 
Councillor J Astill was replacing Councillor H Drury as a member of the Committee for 
that meeting only.

120. MINUTES 

The Committee considered the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee 
held on 10 April 2018.

It was agreed that Councillor King needed to be removed from the ‘in attendance’ list 
and added into the list of attending Committee members.

DECISION:

That subject to the above amendments the minutes were signed by the Chairman as 
a correct record.

121. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

Councillor Eldridge declared that she was the applicant for application H20-0240-18, 
therefore, she would leave the room for the duration of the item.

Councillor Seymour stated that he was a member of the Gentlemen’s Society and 
therefore would leave for the duration of application H16-0210-18.

The Chairman stated that with regard to application H16-0210-18 there was no 
disclosable pecuniary interest, but in the interests of transparency, declared that the 
offices of the Conservative Association were in the building that was currently on the 
site of the proposal.

Page 49

Agenda Item 8.f)



- 2 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 9 May 2018

122. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING 
ORDERS). 

There were none.

123. H16-0210-18 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H16-0210-18 Activ Property 
Management Ltd.

Full application for the demolition of existing class B1 
commercial building and construction of 26 new 
dwellings and associated external works including 
landscaping at Broad Street Business Centre, 10 
Broad Street, Spalding.

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

Councillor Seymour left the room at 18:58

DECISION:

To defer the application to await the results of a viability report and to undertake an 
assessment of the impact of the proposal upon natural light for the adjacent building.

(Moved by Councillor Brewis, seconded by Councillor Eldridge)

Oral representations were received in respect of the above application with the 
council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

 Matt Clark – Applicant (support)
 Nick Casswell – Gentleman’s Society (objector)

Councillor Seymour entered the room at 19:36

124. H11-1207-17 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H11-1207-17 O G E Chapman & Son Outline application for a residential development of 

approximately 215 dwellings on the land between 
Seagate Road and B1359 Wisbech Road, Long 

Page 50

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 3 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 9 May 2018

Sutton

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

DECISION:

That planning permission be granted subject to the applicant first entering into a 
Section 106 Planning Obligation to secure:

 The provision of 25% of the 215 dwellings as affordable
 Education contributions
 NHS healthcare contributions
 Monitoring cost for the Travel Plan

And those conditions listed at Section 9.0 of the report.

(Moved by Councillor Grocock, seconded by Councillor Coupland)

Oral representations were received in respect of the above application with the 
council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

 Lee Russell – Agent (Support)
 Martin Dickenson - Resident (objector)

125. H02-1192-17 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H02-1192-17 Amelio Homes Ltd Outline application fro a proposed residential 

development of two detached houses at 10 
Peterborough Road, Crowland, Peterborough. Re-
submission of H02-0536-17.

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

Page 51

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 4 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 9 May 2018

DECISION:

That, contrary to recommendations, planning permission be refused due to 
insufficient changes made in this re-submission to address the original concerns and 
because of the impacts upon neighbouring properties, including; noise pollution, the 
risk of overlooking presented by the proposal and the positioning of the proposed 
vehicle turning/parking bay.

(Moved by Councillor Alcock , seconded by Councillor Avery )

The committee took a comfort break at 20:30 to return at 20:45

126. H22-0176-18 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H22-0176-18 Mr D Rose Full application for change of use from agricultural 

land to part equestrian use including stables and 
storage container (retrospective) at 20 Austendyke 
Road, Weston Hills, Spalding. (re-submission of H22-
0946-17)

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

DECISION:

That planning permission be granted subject to conditions in Section 9.0 of the 
report.

(Moved by Councillor  Grocock, seconded by Councillor Avery)

127. H09-0247-18 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H09-0247-18 Mr and Mrs L Griffiths Full application for proposed four-

bedroom one-and-a-half storey 
dwelling at Holly Grange, 81 Dog 
Drove North, Holbeach Drove.

Page 52

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 5 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 9 May 2018

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

DECISION:

That, contrary to the recommendation detailed at section 8.0 within the report, 
planning permission be granted, subject to appropriate wording being agreed by the 
Chairman’s Panel prior to confirmation in writing.

(Moved by Councillor Astill, seconded by Councillor Coupland)

Oral representation was received in respect of the above application with the 
council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

 Leeson Griffiths  – Applicant (supporter)

Note: Please see attached appendix for the wording, as agreed by the Chairman’s 
Panel meeting, held on Friday, 25 May 2018.

Councillor Eldridge left the room at 22:00

128. H20-0240-18 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H20-0240-18 Mr and Mrs G Eldridge Full application for an extension to form kitchen/diner 

& first floor bedroom at Stanton House, Broadgate, 
Sutton St James.

Councillor Whitbourn and Councillor Chandler left the room at 22:01

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

Page 53

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 6 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 9 May 2018

DECISION:

That planning permission be granted subject to those conditions listed at Section 9.0 
of the report.

(Moved by Councillor Tyrrell , seconded by Councillor Avery)

Councillor Eldridge returned to the room at 22:03

129. APPEALS 

Councillors considered the report of the Development Manager which provided an 
update on recent appeal decisions.

DECISION:

That the report be noted.

130. PLANNING UPDATES. 

There were none.

131. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT. 

There were none.

Appendix

(The meeting ended at 10.04 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 54



Appendix

Chairman’s Panel - 25 May 2018
Wording agreed for approval of the following application

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H09-0247-18 Mr and Mrs L Griffiths Full application for proposed four-

bedroom one-and-a-half storey dwelling 
at Holly Grange, 81 Dog Drove North, 
Holbeach Drove.

That, contrary to the recommendation detailed at section 8.0 within the report, 
planning permission be granted on the basis that it was considered that in this 
instance that the social and environmental impacts of the proposed development, 
such as its distance from local services, likely reliance upon the motor car to access 
local services and facilities and the development's effect upon the rural character 
and appearance of the area were outweighed by the benefits of contributing towards 
the supply of housing both in the District and in terms of meeting the applicants' 
needs and the needs of future generations. Therefore, the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development, as outlined in Paragraph 14 of the National Planning
Policy Framework, 2012 was considered to apply in this instance.

Page 1

Minute Annex 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 56



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE held in the 
Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Thursday, 24 May 2018 
at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

G R Aley (Chairman)

D Ashby
C J T H Brewis

T A Carter
P C Foyster

M D Seymour

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J R Astill John 
Cornett (Director, KPMG), Helen Brookes (Manager, KPMG) and Emma Hodds 
(Internal Audit Consortium Manager, Eastern Internal Audit Services). 

In Attendance: The Head of Finance, the Finance Manager Treasury, the Finance 
Accountant, the Business Intelligence Officer, the Democratic Services Officer and 
the Portfolio Holder Finance.

Action By
1. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

There were no declarations of interest.

2. MINUTES 

The minutes of the Governance and Audit Committee meeting 
held on 15 March 2018 were signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record.

3. QUARTER 4 RISK REPORT 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Strategy and Governance which informed the Committee on the 
current status of the Council’s strategic risks.

The committee noted the following:

 There was currently one risk in the high risk category.  This 
related to the critical breach of ICT which had been increased 
following the National Cyber Security Centre (NCSS) 
intelligence regarding possible increased threat from Russian 
government-supported malicious cyber activity.  The ICT 
department were aware of the threat and were reviewing the 
mitigations suggested by the NCSS, as well as continuing with 
the ongoing work to ensure the safety of the Authority’s 
computer networks.

 There were currently thirteen risks which fell into the medium 
category.  Of these risks, most remained at the same score as 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8.g)



- 2 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE - 
24 May 2018

last quarter with one risk increasing in score.  There had been 
three new risks added since Quarter 3 – Impact of 
Homelessness Reduction Act; Contracts Monitoring and Staff 
Recruitment and Retention within the Shared Services 
Arrangement.

 A risk that had increased in the quarter was the impact of 
business rate appeals.  This was due to current ongoing legal 
action undertaken by the NHS which was appealing for 
business rate reductions to be applied which, if successful, 
could have an impact throughout the country and therefore 
increased the likelihood on the SHDC risk.  More detail would 
be provided of the decision when available.

AGREED:

That the contents of the report be noted. 

(The Business Intelligence Officer left the meeting following 
discussion of this item). 

4. EXTERNAL AUDIT PROGRESS REPORT AND TECHNICAL 
UPDATE 

Consideration was given to the report from KPMG, which 
provided details of the external audit progress and technical 
update, as at May 2018.

The report provided the Governance and Audit Committee with an 
overview of progress in delivering KPMG’s responsibilities as the 
external auditors.  The report also highlighted the main technical 
issues which were currently having an impact on local 
government.  The articles that were believed to have an impact at 
the Authority had been flagged and a perspective had been 
provided on each issue.

No officers from KPMG were able to attend the meeting and the 
Chairman advised the Panel to contact KPMG should they have 
any particular comments or questions.

AGREED:

That the report be noted.

5. PRE-AUDIT 2017-18 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, INCLUDING 
NARRATIVE REPORT AND ANNUAL GOVERNANCE 
STATEMENT 

Page 58



- 3 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE - 
24 May 2018

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151) which presented the Pre-Audit 
Financial Statements 2017/18 for members’ consideration, prior to 
formal approval by the Executive Director Commercialisation. 

The Accounts and Audit regulations 2015 required that the 
Responsible Financial Officer signed the unaudited statement of 
accounts no later than 31 May, and the statement of accounts be 
considered and approved by a committee of the Council no later 
than 31 July.  Deadlines had been moved forward from 30 June to 
30 September from 2017/18, hence the late release of the report 
to this meeting.

As part of the governance role, and in line with good practice, the 
report presented the unaudited financial statements to the 
Committee, to enable comments and challenge, and to highlight 
any key areas.

The Financial Statements production process was complete.  
Included in Appendix A was the unaudited version of the 2017/18 
Financial Statement, which contained the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis; Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement; Movement in Reserves Statement; Cash Flow 
Statement and Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018.  It was 
possible that minor presentational adjustments could be 
undertaken before the statutory deadline for publishing the 
accounts (31 May).

The timescales involved with the approval, inspection and audit of 
the Council’s financial statements for 2017/18 were:

 Unaudited Financial Statements to Committee - 24 May 2018
 Executive Director Commercialisation to sign Statements -24 

May 2018
 Accounts available for Public inspection from - 25 May 2018
 Audit by KPMG to commence - 18 June 2018
 Financial Statements approved by Committee - 26 July 2018
 Auditor’s opinion on Statements issued by - 31 July 2018

The accounts had been prepared in accordance with the Code of 
Practice and the Council’s accounting policies.  A small number of 
minor presentational adjustments were required to ensure 
compliance with the 2017/18 Code of Practice.  No amendments 
were required to be made to the Primary Financial Statements, 
and the level of resources available to the Council remained the 
same.  The unaudited Financial Statements contained the draft 
Annual Governance Statement, which the Committee was asked 
to approve.

Page 59



- 4 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE - 
24 May 2018

Members considered the information within the report, and 
congratulated the Finance Department for achieving the new 
deadlines.

ACTION:

That the draft Annual Governance Statement , included within the 
unaudited Financial Statements 2017/18 be approved.

6. ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT REVIEW 2017/18 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisations (S151) which requested that the Committee 
consider the Annual Treasury Management Review 2017/18 prior 
to it being submitted to Council for approval.

The Council was required by regulations issued under the Local 
Government Act 2003 to produce an annual treasury 
management review of activities and the actual prudential and 
treasury indicators for 2017/18.  The report met the requirements 
of both the CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury Management 
(the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).

During 2017/18, the following report had been submitted: 

 An annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (to Council 
22 February 2017);

 A mid year (minimum) treasury update report (to Governance 
and Audit on 14 December 2017);

 An annual review following the end of the year, describing the 
activity compared to the strategy (the report under 
consideration)

The regulatory environment placed responsibility on members for 
the review and scrutiny of treasury management policy and 
activities. The report was therefore important in that respect, as it 
provided details of the outturn position for treasury activities and 
highlighted compliance with the Council’s policies previously 
approved by members.

The Council also confirmed that it had complied with the 
requirement under the Code to give prior scrutiny to all of the 
above treasury management reports by the Governance and 
Audit Committee.  Member training on treasury management 
issues was undertaken during 2017/18 on 15 March 2018, in 
order to support the members’ scrutiny role.

Page 60



- 5 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE - 
24 May 2018

The report summarised the following:

 Capital activity during the year;
 Impact of the activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness 

(the Capital Financing Requirement);
 The actual prudential and treasury indicators;
 Overall treasury position identifying how the Council had 

borrowed in relation to its indebtedness, and the impact on 
investment balances;

 Summary of interest rate movements in the year;
 Detailed debt activity;
 Detailed investment activity

Members considered the report, and the following issues were 
raised:

 The Authority frequently underspent on intended capital spend 
– should figures be revised in the future?

o Officers advised that few authorities achieved their 
intended spend, and there was often significant 
slippage.  However, it was not desirable to have an 
underspend on a capital programme, and more rigorous 
processes needed to be put in place.  A working group 
was shortly due to be set up to try and identify issues.

 With regard to repaid loans, members asked where these 
monies had since been invested.

o Officers were not able to provide this information but 
advised that a response would be forwarded to 
members of the Committee in due course.

AGREED:

That the report be noted.

7. GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE WORK 
PROGRAMME 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Manager – 
Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) which set out the Work 
Programme of the Governance and Audit Committee, as set out 
in Appendix A within the report.

AGREED:

That the report and content of the Work Programme be noted.

Page 61



- 6 -

GOVERNANCE AND AUDIT COMMITTEE - 
24 May 2018

8. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were none.

(The meeting ended at 7.38 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 62



- 1 -

Minutes of a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE held in the Council Chamber, 
Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Wednesday, 13 June 2018 at 6.30 pm.

PRESENT

R Gambba-Jones (Chairman)
J Avery (Vice-Chairman)

B Alcock
D Ashby
P E Coupland
L J Eldridge

R Grocock
C J Lawton
J L Reynolds
M D Seymour

A C Tennant
J Tyrrell
P A Williams

In Attendance:  , Development Manager, Planning and Building Control Manager and 
Senior Planning Lawyer and Democratic Services Officer

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors C J T H Brewis 
and H Drury 

1. MINUTES 

The Committee considered the minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee 
held on 9 May 2018.

DECISION:
The minutes were signed by the Chairman as a correct record.

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

Councillor Seymour declared that, in relation to application H09-0382-18, he was the 
applicant and therefore would leave the room for the duration of the item.

3. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER THE COUNCIL'S CONSTITUTION (STANDING 
ORDERS). 

There were none

4. H16-0888-17 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H16-0888-17 Taylor Pearson 
Development (Drapers Place) Ltd.

Full application for the demolition of disused buildings 
and construction of a residential development for 
over 55s including associated external works and 
access at the car park and premises, Drapers Place, 
Spalding.

Page 63

Agenda Item 8.h)



- 2 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 13 June 2018

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

DECISION:

That Planning Permission be granted, subject to the conditions listed at section 9.0 of 
the report as well as the wording of condition 3 being torestrict occupation of the 
development to persons aged 55 or over; persons living as part of a single household 
with such a person or persons who were living with such a person who has since 
died and that as no further archaeological works were required conditions 4, 5 and 6 
were not required

(Moved by Councillor Grocock, Seconded by Councillor Avery)

Oral representations were received in respect of the above application with the 
council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

 Supporter – Jon Pope (Agent)

5. H16-0210-18 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H16-0210-18 Activ Property 
Management Ltd.

Full application for the demolition of existing class B1 
commercial building and construction of 26 new 
dwellings and associated external works including 
landscaping at Broad Street Business Centre, 10 
Broad Street, Spalding

The Chairman reported that this item had been withdrawn from the agenda.

6. H08-1216-17 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H08-1216-17 Executors of Queenie 
Dennis.

Outline application for a proposed residential 
development of up to 38 Dwellings on the land off 
Spalding Road, Gosberton, Spalding.

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Page 64

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 3 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 13 June 2018

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

DECISION:

That Planning Permission be granted, subject to the applicant first entering into a 
Section 106 Planning Obligation to secure:

 The provision of 25% of the 38 dwellings as affordable
 Education contributions
 NHS healthcare contributions

And the conditions listed at Section 9.0 of the report

(Moved by Councillor Tyrell, Seconded by Councillor Tennant)

Oral representations were received in respect of the above application with the 
council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

 Supporter – Lewis Smith (Agent)

7. H05-0773-17 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H05-0773-17 Larkfleet Homes Full application for the erection of 24 (in total) log 

cabins for holiday/leisure use including 6 No. 
additional log cabins; 6 No. cabins granted under 
planning permission reference H05-0699-16 and 12 
No. cabins granted permission under H05-0114-15 at 
the land at Lowgate, Fleet Bank, Fleet.

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

DECISION:

That Planning Permission be granted, subject to the conditions listed at section 9.0 of 
the report, as well as an additional condition requiring details of the management 
arrangements of the development, including storage and disposal of refuse/recycling. 

Page 65

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 4 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 13 June 2018

And that part (iii) of condition 3 be amended to ensure that the site’s 
owners/operators must submit a register of all owners/occupiers of individual log 
cabins on the site and their main home addresses to the LPA twice a year.

(Moved by Councillor Eldridge, Seconded by Councillor Tennant)

Oral representations were received in respect of the above application with the 
council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

 Supporter – Mark Mann (Applicant)

8. H11-0245-18 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H11-0245-18 Mr G Franklin Full application for a new dwelling at Pear Tree Farm, 

St James Road, Long Sutton

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

DECISION:

That Planning Permission be granted, subject to the conditions listed at section 9.0 of 
the report.

(Moved by Councillor Seymour, Seconded by Councillor Tyrell)

Oral representations were received in respect of the above application with the 
council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

 Supporter – Craig Smith (Agent)

9. H01-1017-17 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H01-1017-17 Mr & Mrs Carrick Full application for a side extension as self-contained 

annex in lieu of outbuilding 

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Page 66

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 5 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 13 June 2018

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

DECISION:

That Planning Permission be granted, subject to the conditions listed at section 9.0 of 
the report.

(Moved by Councillor Grocock, Seconded by Councillor Eldridge)

Oral representations were received in respect of the above application with the 
council’s scheme of public speaking at Planning Committee meetings:

 Supporter – Mr Carrick (Applicant)

10. H09-0382-18 

Planning No. and Applicant Proposal
H09-0382-18 Mr M D Seymour Full application for the erection of a boundary wall at 

Kent Fields, Woodhouse Lane, Holbeach

Cllr Seymour left the room at 20:07

Consideration was given to the report of the Development Manager upon which the 
above application was to be determined, including his recommendations, copies of 
which had previously been circulated to all members.

Members debated the matter and fully explored the details of the application in light 
of prevailing policies and guidance. The debate was not repeated here as Planning 
Committee meetings were webcast and could be viewed in full at 
www.sholland.gov.uk for a limited period of time following which the recording could 
be made available by request.

DECISION:

That Planning Permission be granted, subject to the conditions listed at section 9.0 of 
the report.

(Moved by Councillor Lawton, Seconded by Councillor Reynolds)

11. APPEALS 

Councillors considered the report of the Development Manager which provided an 
update on recent appeal decisions.

DECISION:

Page 67

http://www.sholland.gov.uk/
http://www.sholland.gov.uk/


- 6 -

PLANNING COMMITTEE - 13 June 2018

That the report be noted.

12. PLANNING UPDATES. 

There were none

13. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT. 

There were none

(The meeting ended at 8.10 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 68



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cabinet

To: South Holland District Council Wednesday, 11 July 2018 

(Author: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer)

Subject Report from Cabinet meeting held on 29 May 2018

Purpose: To consider recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of:

a) 2017/18 Financial Outturn (Cabinet minute 6/18) (Cabinet Agenda Item 7) 

Recommendations to Council: 

a) 2017/18 Financial Outturn

a) That the report and Appendix A be noted;

b) That the contributions to and use of reserves be agreed in line with para 5.5 and 
Appendix A, Tables 4 and 5 of this report;

c) That the net General Fund underspend of £13,505 be transferred to the Council Tax 
Reserve.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution provides that only the full Council may exercise the 
functions of approving, adopting or amending the policy framework and budget, and 
adopting or changing the Constitution.  Staffing matters are also a Council function.  The 
Cabinet however has a responsibility for advising the Council on such matters.  At its 
meeting on 29 May 2018, the Cabinet made recommendations to Council in respect of the 
above item which may affect the budget and policy framework, Constitution or comprise 
staffing issues.  

1.2 The remainder of this report details the recommendations of the Cabinet which must be 
read in conjunction with the individual reports to Cabinet, copies of which are attached as 
appendices.

2.0 2017/18 FINANCIAL OUTTURN
(Report submitted to Cabinet – Item 7 attached)

Consideration was given to the report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance and the Executive 
Director Commercialisation (S151 Officer) which provided information on the outturn 
financial position of the Council as at 31 March 2018.

A number of variances were set out in the report, and attention was drawn to the following:

Page 69

Agenda Item 9.



 The loss of car parking revenue was a projected figure, and was largely due to the theft 
of the machine in Vine Street car park.  Delivery of a replacement machine was 
expected within the next few weeks.  There had been some delay as the machine was 
not being replaced like for like, but would be an enhanced machine that could take 
additional forms of payment. 

 There had been some slippage in certain areas, and the Cabinet would continue to 
monitor these actively.

 There had been an overspend on Grants for Growth and this had been as a result of 
assumptions within the 2017/18 budget and the element of staff time that could be re-
charged to the project.  There had been an under recovery of this staff cost.  To avoid 
this going forward, future bids would be clearer with regard to which staff were part of 
the bidding programme.  

The Leader requested that the Community Representative for Parish Councils 
communicate to all Parish Councils that they were invited to contact the Authority with 
details of areas of land that could potentially be used to develop Council-built homes.

(Other options considered:
 To note the report and not approve the recommendations detailed in Appendix A; or
 To do nothing.

Reasons for decision:
 To provide members with information on the Council’s overall financial performance 

in 2017-18 and to provide an updated financial position on reserves for 2018-19).

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer
Telephone Number 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Cabinet Agenda Item 7

Page 70



APPENDIX A

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Finance and Executive Director - Commercialisation 
(S151)

To: Cabinet 29 May 2018  

Author: Jane Crosby, Head of Finance; Ray Fleming, Interim Strategic Business 
Partner

Subject: 2017/18 Financial Outturn

Purpose: To provide information on the outturn financial position of the Council as at 
31 March 2018. 

Recommendations to Full Council: 

1) That the report and Appendix A be noted.

2) That the contributions to and use of reserves be agreed in line with para 5.5 and 
Appendix A, Tables 4 and 5 of this report.

3) That the net General Fund underspend of £13,505 be transferred to the Council Tax 
Reserve.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This report provides information on the unaudited 2017/18 outturn financial position of the 
Council in the following areas:

 The Revenue Budget for the General Fund (GF) and Housing Revenue Account 
(HRA),

 The General Fund and HRA Reserves Position, 
 The Capital Programme for 2017/18 (GF and HRA), and
 The Treasury Management Performance for the year.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note the report and to approve the recommendations detailed at Appendix A.

2.2 To note the report and not approve the recommendations detailed in Appendix A.

2.3 Do nothing.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 To provide members with information on the Council’s overall financial performance in 
2017-18 and to provide an updated financial position on reserves for 2018-19.

Page 71



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 To ensure that members are updated regularly on the Council’s overall financial position 
and have the information required to assist in future financial decision making.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 This report is financial in nature. The outturn position in respect of the General Fund, HRA, 
Capital Programme, Reserves and Treasury Management are summarised within the 
following paragraphs with further detail provided at Appendix A.  

5.2 Statement of Accounts

5.2.1 The unaudited Statement of Accounts for the financial year ended 31st March 2018 will be 
provided to the Council’s auditors (KPMG) on 18 June 2018 with the audit due to be 
completed by the middle of July 2018.

5.2.2 The unaudited Statement of Accounts will be published on the Council’s website by 31 May 
2018 for public inspection, which will continue for a period of 30 days, in line with The 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2016.  

5.2.3 The core Statements of the Accounts and the Annual Governance Statement were 
presented to the Governance and Audit Committee on 24 May 2018.

5.2.4 The Financial Statements have been prepared under The Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). 

5.3 General Fund Revenue Outturn

5.3.1 The Council has achieved a net underspend in the General Fund of £14k after taking 
account of the use of reserve funding to cover a number of one-off pressures, including

 an additional in-year levy payment of £297k to Government in respect of the updated 
Business Rates position for 2018/19 primarily due to the withdrawal of one of the 
power station appeal, 

 support for development/delivery of services including Pride (£100k) and the Garden 
Waste Extension(£59k), and  

 a budget adjustment of £359k due to additional pressures identified after the initial 
2017-18 budget was set.

5.3.2 Further details on the movement in Reserves are set out in Appendix A - Table 3 to this 
report.    

5.3.3 The net underspend of £14k has arisen as a result of a range of variances across services. 
The revenue outturn position by Directorate is detailed at Appendix A - Table 1 together 
with an analysis of service variations.  The major variations are as follows:

 An accounting adjustment due to Alarm monitoring income of £151k transferred 
from HRA,

Page 72



 Savings assumptions of £127k in the 2017-18 base budget, in excess of Moving 
Forward targets,

 Increased Housing Benefit Overpayment Recovery in-year (£73k),
 Overspend of £78k within Environmental Services in relation to staff costs to cover 

sickness and vacancies to maintain core services,
 Loss of car park income of £43k due to theft of car park machine,
 Additional income from Planning Fees (£139k) and Building Control Fees (£44k),
 Initial cost of establishing the contracts and procurements team and slippage in 

achievement of contracts savings target of £55k,
 Additional income on investments (£86k) arising from increased interest rates and 

higher levels of reserves than budgeted, and
 Net underspends of (£126k) across other services due to vacancies, additional 

income achievement and reductions agreed following a series of budget challenge 
sessions during the year.

5.3.4 It is recommended that the net underspend of £14k be transferred to the Council Tax 
Reserve.

5.4 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Revenue Outturn

5.4.1 The HRA delivered an in year underspend of £3,586k. This was mainly due to delays in the 
affordable housing capital programme which meant that a reduced level of capital spend 
was approved and there was, therefore, a reduced level of revenue contribution to support 
capital expenditure required (£3,977k).  In addition a budget for alarm monitoring income of 
£151k which had been transferred to the General Fund in error has now been transferred 
back to the HRA. These underspends have been offset by an increase in HRA depreciation 
charges of £607k due to an uplift during the year in the ‘social housing factor’ used to 
assess the use for social housing.  More detail is provided at Appendix A - Tables 2.

5.5 Reserves (GF and HRA)

5.5.1 General Fund Specific Reserves have reduced from £8.342m to £7.618m due to their use 
to support one-off pressures and service requirements. In addition a number of grants 
received in 2017/18 have been set aside for future allocated uses.  Various items of 
expenditure have also been supported from reserves as previously planned. Further details 
are set out in Appendix A - Table 3.

5.5.1 The General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.064m.  During 2018/19 a review of the 
level of the General Fund Reserve will be carried out relative to the Council’s overall risks 
and members will be informed if any change is proposed to the level of this reserve.  

5.5.2 The HRA General Reserve balance at 31st March 2018 is £12.752m. The Major Repairs 
balance has reduced from £6.7m to £6.43m as a result of capital funding requirements in 
excess of the annual contribution from Depreciation. More detail is provided at Appendix A 
– Table 4.

5.6 Capital – General Fund

5.6.1 The total General Fund Capital Programme for 2017-18 was £5.066m of which £3.687m 
had received specific scheme approval. Against this approved budget in year spend 
totalled £2.606m giving an underspend of £1.081m.  The main areas of underspend relate 
to Disabled Facility and Decent Homes Grants,  ICT infrastructure, purchase of the new 

Page 73



garden waste vehicle, Digital Vision and Industrial Estate re-roofing schemes.  Unspent 
DFG grant will be carried forward into reserves for future use. Other schemes have 
experienced delays in scheme starts and will require slippage of £557k into the 2018/19 
capital programme. The capital programme in respect of schemes still subject to approval 
(Growth Fund use, further Digital Vision use and grounds maintenance spend), will be 
slipped into a revised 2018/19 programme where still required.

5.6.2 Appendix A – Table 5 provides more information on the General Fund capital outturn 
position, how it was funded and the variances from budget.

5.6.3 Budget slippage from the 2017/18 programme and new emerging capital project funding 
requirements will require amendments to the 2018/19 programme.  A revised capital 
programme will be presented in the Quarter 1 report for 2018/19.

5.7 Capital – HRA

5.7.1 The total HRA Capital programme for 2017/18 was £10.007m of which £6.156m had 
received specific scheme approval. Against this approved budget in-year spend totalled 
£3.369m, an underspend of £2.787m. The main reasons for this underspend relate to 
delays in the new build affordable housing programme and underspends on the decent 
homes programme of re-roofing, and kitchen and bathroom replacements. 

5.7.2 The HRA capital programme in respect of schemes still subject to approval will be slipped 
into 2018/19 programme where still required.

5.7.3 Appendix A – Table 6 provides more information on the HRA capital outturn position, how 
it was funded and the variances from budget.

5.8 Capital - Other

5.8.1 During 2017/18 the Council received £1.539m in capital receipts, £1.318m of which related 
to the HRA. There were 19 houses sold under Right to Buy.  More detail is provided at 
Appendix A - Table 7.

5.8.2 Appendix A - Table 8 also sets out the Council’s ongoing capital financing requirement, 
the measure of the Council’s underlying borrowing requirement.

5.9 Treasury Management

5.9.1 Appendix A provides more information on the investments held by the Council at 31 March 
2018 (£38.9m). The average investments held during the year were £41.7m.

5.9.2 Interest earned on investments in 2017-18 was £259.3k (compared to the budget of 
£149.9k).  This increase can be attributed to higher levels of investment balances being 
held and also higher than anticipated interest rate levels during the second half of the 
financial year.

5.9.3 Members are asked to note the Treasury Management position.  More information on 
Treasury Management is available in the Treasury Annual Report which was considered by 
Governance and Audit Committee on 24 May, and will be considered by Full Council on 11 
July 2018.

Page 74



5.10 Moving Forward Programme

5.10.1 The Council funded £210k of Moving Forward expenditure from its reserves in 2017/18.  
This was less that the original estimate for the year due to a re-phasing of spend in line with 
the current plans for the programme.  This programme is currently being reviewed.

5.10.2 The Council will continue to develop and implement its programme of service 
improvements. It will use its reserves to finance those projects which are aimed at 
delivering future savings and income generation.

6 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1       Income and expenditure affect all wards of the Council.

7 ACRONYMS

7.1 GF General Fund
HRA Housing Revenue Account
CPBS Compass Point Business Services
RTB Right to Buy
ICT Information and Communications Technology
MTFP Medium term Financial Plan

Background papers: The 2017/18 Estimates Report to Council February 2017
                                               The 2018/19 Estimates Report to Council February 2018

Lead Contact Officer:
Name and Post: Jane Crosby, Head of Finance  
Telephone Number
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Financial report for 2017/18 with details of the GF and HRA revenue 
spend, Reserves, Capital expenditure and Treasury Management.

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



 
APPENDIX A

South Holland District Council 

Financial Report for the Year Ending 31 March 2018 

General Fund Revenue Outturn

The total General Fund (GF) budget requirement for the year was £11.4m as approved by 
Council on 22 February 2017.

The GF outturn position is an underspend of £14k  (Table 1). This position required some 
support from reserves for unplanned expenditure and base budget issues.  The use of  
reserves to support the budget is detailed at Table 4. The significant variances from budget 
that have contributed to the GF outturn position are detailed in Table 2 below.

Table 1 – General Fund Revenue Outturn

Service Area
Note Budget

£’000

Actual 
Outturn

£’000
Variance

£’000

Commercialisation
Commercialisation 1 (10) 93 103
Local Plan 2 6 57 51
Economic Development 3 79 107 28
Public Protection 432 421 (11)
Finance 4 (847) (510) 337
Revenues and Benefits 5 450 370 (80)
Total – Commercialisation 110 538 428

Place
Assets and Property 6 148 180 32
Building Control 7 109 61 (48)
Communities 8 1,183 1,078 (105)
Housing 9 182 164 (18)
Environmental Services 10 2,955 3,141 186
Planning 11 (216) (348) (132)
Investment properties 12 (62) (76) (14)
Total - Place 4,299 4,200 (99)

Strategy and Governance
Corporate Improvement and Performance 132 141 9
Communications 122 115 (7)
Corporate Management 13 591 556 (35)
Democratic Services 14 1,106 1,032 (74)
HR 15 681 711 30
IT and Customer Services 16 1,166 1,147 (19)
Total - Strategy and Governance 3,798 3,702 (96)

Statutory recharge to the HRA for support 
services (*) (880) (1,041) (161)

Internal Drainage Boards & Parish Precepts 17 3,064 3,051 (13)
Investment Income 18 (88) (174) (86)
Capital and Other Adjustments - - -
Transfers to/from Reserves 1,098 1,098 -
Total Cost of Services 11,401 11,374 (27)

Financing
Page 77



 
Service Area

Note Budget
£’000

Actual 
Outturn

£’000
Variance

£’000
Government Grants 19 (3,133) (3,420) (287)
Council Tax (5,416) (5,416) -
Retained Business Rates 20 (2,852) (2,552) 300
Total Financing (11,401) (11,388) 13

Variance - (14) (14)

(*) Support service recharges are a non-controllable cost to budget holders, and are therefore not 
reported as part of the service analysis above. An adjusting line has been added to show the value of 
recharges to the HRA, for support services and corporate management (including the debt 
management recharge); a corresponding debit entry is showing in the HRA table below.

Notes to Table 1:

1. Commercialisation +£103k – Accounting adjustment due to alarm monitoring 
income transferred from HRA of £151k, offset by vacancy savings in Planning Policy. 

2. Local Plan +£51k – additional professional fees incurred in excess of reserve
3. Economic Development +£28k – lower than anticipated rechargeable costs against 

Grants4Growth grant claims.
4. Finance +£337k - savings assumptions of £127k in the base budget, in excess of 

Moving Forward targets, corporate vacancy factor of £151k (offset by vacancies 
across service areas), increased banking charges of £28k due to use of Allpay and 
agency cover within finance team, offset by vacancies in Corporate Management.

5. Revenues and Benefits (£80k) – increased housing benefit overpayment recovery.
6. Assets and Property +£32k – additional professional fees, repairs and maintenance 

costs and additional rental payments.
7. Building Control (£48k) – additional fee income achieved.
8. Communities (£105k) – vacancies across the service area, overachievement of 

income targets at South Holland Centre, running cost savings at other sites and 
facilities including Ayscoughfee Hall and reduction in community grant requests.

9. Housing (£18k) – additional staff costs due to agency cover and increased B&B 
costs due to bad weather, offset by additional rent income and increased cost 
recovery through DFG management fees.

10. Environmental Services +£186k - Overspend of £78k in relation to staff costs to 
cover sickness and vacancies to maintain core services, increased vehicle running 
costs of £39k (insurance, fuel and maintenance) and  loss of car park income of £43k 
due to theft of car park machine.

11. Planning (£132k) – additional fee income achieved.
12. Investment properties (£14k) – additional rent following reviews taking effect and 

planned maintenance savings.
13. Corporate Management (£35k) – net staff savings due to vacancies and SHDC 

share of tax liability. 
14. Democratic Services (£74k) – vacancies and increased cost recovery for elections 

(£71k) and legal services savings of (£59k), offset by initial cost of establishing the 
contracts and procurements team and slippage in achievement of contracts savings 
target.

15. HR +£30k – additional staff training, iTrent costs and Apprentice Levy.
16. IT and Customer Services (£19k) – license cost savings of (£31k) offset by other 

service variations.
17. IDB & Parish Precepts (£13k) – IDB levy received after budget set.
18. Investment Income (£86k) - Additional income on investments arising from 

increased interest rates and higher levels of reserves than budgeted,
19. Government Grants (£287k) – additional Section 31 grant received.
20. Retained Business Rates +£300k – One off tariff payment due to the impact of 

revaluations from 1 April 2017. Additional renewable energy rate income.

Housing Revenue Account Page 78



 

Table 2 – HRA Revenue Outturn

Notes to Table 2:

1. Charges for Services and Facilities (£274k) – accounting adjustment to include 
£151k alarm monitoring income, previously budgeted in the General Fund (offset by 
spend in supervision and management below), additional alarm income received in 
year and an increase in sewerage charge, sheltered housing and room hire income.

2. Contributions to Expenditure +£15k - Reduced repairs charged to outside bodies.
3. Repairs and Maintenance (£23k) - underspend on planned maintenance programme.
4. Supervision and Management +£192k - Inclusion of alarm monitoring spend and 

agency staff costs.
5. Depreciation +£607k - Budget was based on the social housing factor of 34% (value 

that the market value of council dwellings is discounted to to take into account the 
existing use as social housing) - this was increased to 42% during the year.

6. Movement in the allowance for bad debts (£65k) - Reduced provision for rent 
arrears based on year end debt profile (The business plan includes an assumed annual 
increase in the provision to offset the impact of Welfare Reform).

7. Statutory recharge to the HRA for support services +£162k - Adjustment made to 
support service recharges to reflect inflationary uplift (prior year charges had been 
static), and revised facilities and legal charges following service reviews.

8. Investment Income (£25k) - Increased interest rates and revenue reserves
9. Capital expenditure charged in year (£3,977k) - No direct revenue financing of 

capital required in year
10. Other Adjustments (£189k) - Statutory and non statutory accounting requirements, 

offset by items within categories above, e.g. gain or loss on sale of non current assets, 
pensions adjustments etc.

Service Area Note Budget
£’000

Actual 
Outturn

£’000
Variance

£’000

Rent Income - Dwellings (15,024) (15,029) (5)
Charges for Services and Facilities 1 (946) (1,220) (274)
Contributions to Expenditure 2 (37) (22) 15
Total Income (16,007) (16,271) (264)

Repairs and Maintenance 3 3,211 3,188 (23)
Supervision and Management 4 2,965 3,157 192
Rents, rates, taxes and other charges 71 67 (4)
Depreciation 5 2,300 2,907 607
Movement in the allowance for bad debts 6 119 54 (65)
Statutory recharge to the HRA for support 
services 7 880 1,042 162
Total Expenditure 9,546 10,415 869
 
Contribution from Operations (6,461) (5,856) 605

Investment Income 8 (62) (87) (25)
Interest Payable on £67.456m 2,348 2,348 -
Capital expenditure charged in year 9 3,977 - (3,977)
Other Adjustments 10 - (189) (189)
    
Net (Surplus)/Deficit (198) (3,784) (3,586)

Page 79



 

RESERVES

Table 3 – General Fund Reserves

Reserve

Balance 
31 March 

2017
£’000

Contributions 
to Reserve

£’000

Use of 
Reserve

£’000

Balance 31 
March 2018

£’000
Comments

Transformation (809) - 210 (599) Use - To fund expenditure against approved 
Transformation projects

Investment and Growth (4,753) (1,140) 675 (5,218) Contributions - New Homes Bonus £1,098k and 
Planning Grant £41k
Uses - Green Waste £59k; Delivery Unit £76k; 
Priory Road £145k; base budget adjustment of 
£359k

Earmarked Grants (254) (139) 80 (313) Contributions - flexible homelessness grant, 
custom housebuilding grant, S106 monies. 
Uses - HCA capacity funding.  

Council Tax (2,082) (344) 1,127 (1,299) Contributions – Insurance Reserve balance 
transferred in £220k; Grants for Growth £124k
Uses – HIF Bid;   Members’  Designated Budgets; 
Levy funding £295k; LDF; Spalding Special; Pride 
£100k; £301k budgeted use of 16/17 surplus, 
£325k support for increased tariff payments.

Insurance (220) - 220 - Use : Reserve balance transferred to Council Tax 
Reserve

Replacement & Refurbishment (225) (136) 171 (189) Contributions – annual budget contribution 
(£136k).
Use - £171k use of Reserve to support in year 
planned maintenance programme

Total Specific GF Reserves (8,342) (1,759) 2,483 (7,618)
General Reserve (2,064) - - (2,064)
Total Reserves (10,406) (1,759) 2,483 (9,682)

P
age 80



 

Table 4 – Housing Revenue Account Reserves

Balance 
31 March 

2017
Contributions 

to Reserve
Use of  

Reserve

Balance 
31 March 

2018
Comments

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

HRA Working Balance: (8,968) (3,784) 0 (12,752) Transfer of HRA surplus to reserve

HRA Insurance Reserve (200) 0 0 (200)

Major Repairs Reserve (6,696) (2,907) 3,168 (6,435) HRA depreciation contribution to MRR is 
used to fund the capital programme in 
future years.  The transfer from MRR in-
year was used to fund 17/18 capital 
programme spend

(15,864) (6,691) 3,168 (19,387)

P
age 81



 

CAPITAL PROGRAMME

Table 5 – General Fund Capital Outturn

Project
Note Budget

2017/18
£’000

Actual 
Outturn
2017/18

£’000

Variance  
(under)/   

overspend
£’000

Disabled Facilities Grants 1 585 377 (208)
Decent Homes Unfit and Disrepair 1 75 36 (39)
Welland Homes 2 1,007 1,121 114
Travellers Sites 3 201 - (201)
ICT Infrastructure 4 336 127 (209)
Council Chamber Conference System 28 28 -
Grants for Growth 5 371 452 81
Garden Waste (bins and vehicle) 6 240 59 (181)
SHDC Self Service Reception 51 51 -
Digital Vision 4 182 10 (172)
Warden Tree Industrial Estate 7 47 - (47)
Fleet Road Industrial Estate 7 55 - (55)
Railway Lane Industrial Estate 7 65 - (65)
Appropriation of Land 8 94 - (94)
Priory Road DWP Works 350 345 (5)
Total Approved Schemes 3,687 2,606 (1,081)

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 807 165 642
Capital Grants and Contributions 1,233 1,065 168
Internal Borrowing 1,006 1,121 (115)
Revenue Resources 641 255 386

3,687 2,606 1,081
Schemes Subject to Approval
Grounds maintenance 9 50 - (50)
Digital vision 10 329 - (329)
Growth Fund 11 1,000 - (1,000)
Total 1,379 - (1,379)

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 329 - 329
Revenue Resources 1,050 - 1,050

1,379 0 (1,379)

Total All Schemes 5,066 2,606 (2,460)

Notes to Table 5:

1. Disabled Facilities Grants (£247k) - Scheme referrals from LCC less than available 
LA funding (unused balance to capital grants unapplied reserve for future spend). 
Additional Grant funding received from Government fully used.

2. Welland Homes +£114k - Issue of Development Loan in 2017-18 as per revised 
Business Plan approved by Council in March 2018.

3. Travellers Sites (£201k) - No spend against the provision for Travellers’ Sites while 
the project is re-assessed. Scheme to be removed from capital programme and then 
reinstated in 2018/19 when clearer plans exist.

4. ICT Infrastructure and Digital Vision (£381k) - Slipped Digital Vision 2016-17 
budget (£172k) not fully utilised. Underspend of the ICT Infrastructure investment 
(£206k) to be slipped into 2018-19 due to a delay in device refresh and Office 365 
work.

5. Grants for Growth +£81k - Additional spend supported by grant income.Page 82



 
6. Garden Waste bins and vehicles (£181k) -  Bins procured. Garden Waste vehicle 

now due to be delivered during 2018-19.
7. Property (£167k) - Industrial Units re-roofing now scheduled for 2018-19.
8. Appropriation of Land (£94k) - No monetary transaction – transfer from HRA to 

General Fund and subsequently sold for development.
9. Environmental Services (£50k) - Revised vehicle/plant replacement programme has 

been agreed by Council and due to commence during 2018-19.
10. Digital Vision (£329k) - 2017-18 Digital Vision not allocated to a project. Budget will 

be slipped into 2018-19 with new projects for spend to be approved.
11. Growth Fund (£1,000k) - Not allocated to a specific scheme.

Table 6 – Housing Revenue Account Capital Outturn

Project
Budget
2017/18

£’000

Actual 
Outturn

£’000

Variance
(under)/

overspend
£’000

Note

Central Heating Upgrade 1,317 1,341 24 1
Kitchen and Bathroom Replacement 1,454 1,043 (411) 1
Electrical Upgrade 107 77 (30) 1
Renewable Energy/Energy Efficiency 125 128 3 1
Other Component Replacements 211 - (211) 1
Council House – Re-Roofing 701 146 (555) 1
Fees 219 - (219) 1
Decent Homes 4,134 2,735 (1,399)

Sewerage Treatment Plant 65 25 (40) 2
The Square 63 5 (58) 2
Major Area Schemes 128 30 (98)

ICT Infrastructure 184 186 2
IT/System 184 186 2

Major Adaptions 400 346 (54) 3
Aids & Adaptions 400 346 (54)

New Build 1,145 - (1,145) 4
Buy Back – Shared Ownership 165 72 (93) 5
Total Approved Schemes 6,156 3,369 (2,787)

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 528 186 342
Direct Revenue Funding 759 - 759
Major Repairs Reserve 4,869 3,168 1,701
Grants and Contributions - 15 (15)

6,156 3,369 2,787

Schemes Subject to Approval
Affordable Housing 3,851 - (3,851) 6

Financed By:
Capital Receipts 633 - 633
Direct Revenue Funding 3,218 - 3,218

3,851 - 3,851

Total HRA 10,007 3,369 (6,638)

Page 83



 
Notes to Table 6:

1. Decent Homes (£1,399k) – Schemes not progressed as planned.  Assumed roof 
lives extended and new contract let in 2017 for replacement of concrete gutters, 
contractual issues in relation to the Kitchen and Bathrooms programme and slippage 
in the component replacement programmes.

2. Major Area Schemes (£98k) – Delays in tender for The Square and only one 
sewerage treatment completed, project to be continued in 2018/19. 

3. Aids & Adaptations (£54k) – Programme is demand-led due to the nature of the 
works.

4. New Build (£1,145k) – Weston Development and Seven Road – phasing for delivery 
of schemes.

5. Buy Back Shared Ownership (£93k) – One shared ownership property purchased 
during 2017-18.

6. New Build (£3,851k) - Balance carried over from 2016/17 - new build programme 
currently being reviewed.

Capital Receipts

Table 7 – Capital Receipts 2017-18

There were 19 right-to-buy sales during the year.  The total receipts for 2017/18 were £1.5m, 
before administration costs and pooling payments, compared to a budget of £1.2m.  All 
Capital Receipts relate to the HRA with the exception of the repayment of Decent Homes 
loans (£26k) and land sales (£195k)..

Description 2017-18
Receipts

£’000

Right to Buy (1,240)
Land Sales (195)
Mortgages repaid (1)
Town Husband Repaid (1)
Repayment of RTB Discount (76)
Repayment of Grants (GF) (26)

Total (1,539)

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR)

Table 8 below shows the CFR which is a prudential indicator and shows the underlying need 
to borrow, based on the actual position at the end of 2017/18. Where the CFR is positive it 
denotes the need to borrow.

Table 8 – Capital Financing Requirement

2016/17
£’000

2017/18
£’000

2018/19
£’000

2019/20
£’000

CFR – Non HRA 2,557 3,847 5,555 8,615
CFR – HRA 68,609 68,439 68,439 68,439

Total 71,166 72,286 73,994 77,054

Movement in CFR 1,274 1,120 1,708 3,060

Page 84



 
Treasury 

Security

The Council has not adopted any formal benchmarks for the management of risk as Officers 
believe that decisions on counterparties and maximum investment levels are adequate to 
monitor the current and trend positions and amend the operational strategy to manage risk 
as conditions change. The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by Capita 
Asset Services which provides a maximum duration for investments depending on the colour 
rating calculated for each financial institution.

All investments held by the Council were within the recommended maximum duration at the 
time the investment was made.  

The chart below shows how the Council’s funds are spread between differing counterparties.  

Cambridgeshire 
County Council, 

£4,000,000

CCLA, £2,600,000
Coventry Building 

Society, 
£4,000,000

Lloyds Bank, 
£3,292,688

London Borough of 
Enfield, £5,000,000

Municipal Bonds 
Agency, £50,000First Abu Dhabi 

Bank, £5,000,000

Oadby & Wigston 
Borough Council, 

£3,000,000

Qatar National 
Bank, £1,000,000

Royal Bank of 
Scotland, 

£5,000,000

Svenska 
Handelsbanken, 

£513,096

Telford & Wrekin 
Council, 

£3,000,000

Welland Homes 
Equity, £876,966

Welland Homes 
Long Term Debtor, 

£1,529,318

Counterparty Exposure

Cash

The Council’s average level of deposits during 2017/18 was £41.7m.  As at 31 March 
2018 investments held were £38.9m of which £3.9m was instant access cash available to 
meet cash flow requirements.  Longer term investments were made up of:

£32.5m - short term investments up to 12 months
£877k - Welland Homes equity
£50k – Municipal Bond Agency Equity
£1.529m - loans to Welland Homes 

Page 85



 
The chart below shows the amounts held in relation to the remaining period to maturity. 

Yield

Budgeted Interest 2017/18               £149.9k (£87.9k Gen.Fund and £62k HRA)   

Actual Interest achieved 2017/18          £259.3k (£172.8k Gen.Fund and £86.5k HRA)
Target yield (Average 3 month LIBID) 0.286%
Actual Yield achieved for 2017/18 0.622%
Actual Yield achieved for 2016/17 0.554%

The increased levels of investment interest achieved can be attributed to higher levels of 
investment balances being held and also higher than anticipated interest rate levels during 
the second half of the financial year.

External Borrowing

The Council borrowed £67.456m from the PWLB on 28th March 2012 to meet its obligations 
under the Housing Revenue Finance Reforms. This was borrowed for a period of 50 years 
on a maturity basis at a rate of 3.48%. No new borrowing has been undertaken during the 
financial year.

Page 86



 
1 

 

 

    

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

Issued – 4 June 2018 

  

 

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to:  

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months 
 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.   
 
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.” 
 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 10.



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
2 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
CSU Building 
Materials 
Contract 
 

To award a contract. 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing.  
 
Meetings and discussions.  
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Jun 
2018 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
CSU Electrical 
Materials Supply 
Contract (EMSC) 
2017 - 2021 
 

To award the EMSC to the successful 
supplier from the outcome of the 
procurement process 
 

 
 
Meetings and discussions 
 

 Officer Decisions Before 
30 Jun 2018 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
New sewerage 
maintenance 
contract for 
council housing 
stock 
 

To award new sewerage maintenance 
contract for the housing stock. 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing Landlord, 
Housing Manager. 
 
Informal meetings and 
discussions. 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Jun 
2018 
 

P
age 88



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
3 

 

Portfolio Holder for 
Growth and 
Commercialisation 
 
 
Spalding Western 
Relief Road / 
Northern Spalding 
SUE - Acceptance 
of Housing 
Infrastructure 
Fund 
 

To formally consider the acceptance 
of HIF funding from Homes England, 
alongside consideration and approval 
of a funding agreement. 
 

 
 
 
 

Spalding 
Western Relief 
Road / Northern 
Spalding SUE - 
Acceptance of 
Housing 
Infrastructure 
Fund 

South Holland District 
Council 12 Sep 2018 
 

Portfolio Holder for 
Place 
 
 
Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership 
- Joint Municipal 
Waste 
Management 
Strategy 
 

To consider the adoption of the Joint 
Municipal Waste Management 
Strategy 
 

 
 
 
 

Lincolnshire 
Waste 
Partnership - 
Joint Municipal 
Waste 
Management 
Strategy 

Cabinet 20 Nov 2018 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 89



 
4 

 

*Cabinet Membership 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader) 
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor M G Chandler (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor P E Coupland (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C Johnson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder) 
 
 

 
If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 

 
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

P
age 90



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Director Commercialisation (S151), Christine Marshall

To: South Holland District Council 11 July 2018

Author: Sean Howsam – Finance Manager – Treasury (CPBS)

Subject: Annual Treasury Management Review 2017/18

Purpose: To consider the Annual Treasury Management Review for 2017-18.

Recommendation(s): 

1)     That the Council receives and approves the Annual Treasury Management Review 
    2017/18 as required by the Local Government Act 2003. 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to 
produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the actual prudential and 
treasury indicators for 2017/18. This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management (the Code) and the CIPFA Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code).

During 2017/18 the following reports have been submitted: 

 an annual treasury strategy in advance of the year (Council 22/02/2017);
 a mid year (minimum) treasury update report (submitted to Governance and Audit 

14/12/2017);
 An annual review following the end of the year describing the activity compared to 

the strategy (this report).

1.2 The regulatory environment places responsibility on members for the review and scrutiny 
of treasury management policy and activities.  This Council has delegated these duties to 
the Governance and Audit Committee. This report is therefore important in that respect, 
as it provides details of the outturn position for treasury activities and highlights 
compliance with the Council’s policies previously approved by members.

1.3 In compliance with the requirements under the Code, the treasury management reports 
have been submitted to the Governance and Audit Committee for scrutiny prior to being 
reported to the full Council.

1.4 Member training on treasury management issues was undertaken during 2017/18 on 
15/03/2018 in order to support the members’ scrutiny role.

1.5 The Treasury Management function is administered by Compass Point Business Services    
on behalf of the Council.

Page 91

Agenda Item 11.



2.0 INTRODUCTION

2.1 This report summarises the following :-

 Capital activity during the year;
 Impact of this activity on the Council’s underlying indebtedness (the Capital 

Financing Requirement);
 The actual prudential and treasury indicators;
 Overall treasury position identifying how the Council has borrowed in relation to its 

indebtedness, and the impact on investment balances;
 Summary of interest rate movements in the year;
 Detailed debt activity; and
 Detailed investment activity.

3.0 THE COUNCIL’S CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND FINANCING 2017/18 

3.1 The Council undertakes capital expenditure on long-term assets.  These activities may 
either be:

 financed immediately through the application of capital or revenue resources 
(capital receipts, capital grants, revenue contributions etc.), which has no resultant 
impact on the Council’s borrowing need; or

 if insufficient financing is available, or a decision is taken not to apply resources, the 
capital expenditure will give rise to a borrowing need.

3.2 The actual capital expenditure forms one of the required prudential indicators.  The 
following tables show the actual capital expenditure and how this was financed.

£’000 General Fund 2016/17
Actual

2017/18 
Estimate

2017/18
Actual

Capital expenditure 1,924 4,065 2,606

Financed in year (638) (2,357) (1,486)

Unfinanced capital expenditure 1,286 1,708 1,120

£’000 Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA)

2016/17
Actual

2017/18 
Estimate

2017/18
Actual

Capital expenditure 3,052 9,220 3,369

Financed in year (3,052) (9,220) (3,369)

Unfinanced capital expenditure - - -

Page 92



4.0 THE COUNCIL’S OVERALL BORROWING NEED

4.1 The Council’s underlying need to borrow for capital expenditure is termed the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR).  This figure is a gauge of the Council’s indebtedness. The 
CFR results from the capital activity of the Council and resources used to pay for the 
capital spend.  It represents the 2017/18 unfinanced capital expenditure (see above 
table), and prior years’ net or unfinanced capital expenditure which has not yet been paid 
for by revenue or other resources.

4.2 Part of the Council’s treasury activities is to address the funding requirements for this 
borrowing need.  Depending on the capital expenditure programme, the treasury service 
organises the Council’s cash position to ensure that sufficient cash is available to meet 
the capital plans and cash flow requirements.  This may be sourced through borrowing 
from external bodies (such as the Government, through the Public Works Loan Board 
(PWLB) or the money markets), or utilising temporary cash resources within the Council.

4.3 Reducing the CFR – the Council’s (non HRA) underlying borrowing need (CFR) is not 
allowed to rise indefinitely.  Statutory controls are in place to ensure that capital assets are 
broadly charged to revenue over the life of the asset.  The Council is required to make an 
annual revenue charge, called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP), to reduce the 
CFR.  This is effectively a repayment of the non-HRA borrowing need (there is no 
statutory requirement to reduce the HRA CFR). This differs from the treasury 
management arrangements which ensure that cash is available to meet capital 
commitments.  External debt can also be borrowed or repaid at any time, but this does not 
change the CFR.

The total CFR can also be reduced by:

 the application of additional capital financing resources (such as unapplied capital 
receipts); or 

 charging more than the statutory revenue charge (MRP) each year through a 
Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP).

4.4 The Council’s 2017/18 MRP Policy as required by Ministry of Housing, Communities and 
Local Government (MHCLG) guidance was approved as part of the Treasury 
Management Strategy Report for 2017/18 on 22/02/2017 and amended at Full Council on 
17/01/2018.

4.5 The Council’s CFR for the year is shown below, and represents a key prudential indicator:

CFR (£’000): General Fund
31 March 

2017 
Actual

31 March
 2018 

Budget

31 March
 2018 
Actual

Opening Balance 308 2,557 2,557

Add unfinanced capital expenditure 
(as above) 1,286 1,708 1,120

Add Transfer of Land & Buildings 
From HRA 963 - 170

Closing Balance 2,557 4,265 3,847

Page 93



CFR (£’000): HRA 31 March 
2017 

Actual

31 March
 2018 

Budget

31 March
 2018 
Actual

Opening Balance 69,584 68,609 68,609

Add unfinanced capital expenditure 
(as above) - - -

Less MRP/VRP and other financing 
movements (12) - -

Less Transfer of Land & Buildings to 
General Fund (963) - (170)

Closing Balance 68,609 68,609 68,439

Borrowing activity is constrained by prudential indicators for net borrowing and the CFR, 
and by the authorised limit.

4.6 Gross borrowing and the CFR - in order to ensure that borrowing levels are prudent over 
the medium term and only for a capital purpose, the Council should ensure that its gross 
external borrowing does not, except in the short term, exceed the total of the CFR in the 
preceding year (2016/17) plus the estimates of any additional CFR for the current 
(2017/18) and next two financial years.  This essentially means that the Council is not 
borrowing to support revenue expenditure.  This indicator allows the Council some 
flexibility to borrow in advance of its immediate capital needs in 2017/18.  The table below 
highlights the Council’s gross borrowing position against the CFR.  The Council has 
complied with this prudential indicator.

31 March 2017 
Actual
(£’000)

31 March 2018 
Budget
(£’000)

31 March 2018 
Actual
(£’000)

Gross Borrowing Position 67,456 67,456 67,456

CFR 71,166 72,874 72,286

 
4.7 The authorised limit is the “affordable borrowing limit” required by s3 of the Local 

Government Act 2003.  Once this has been set, the Council does not have the power to 
borrow above this level.  The following table demonstrates that during 2017/18 the Council 
has maintained gross borrowing within its authorised limit.

The operational boundary is the expected borrowing position of the Council during the 
year.  Periods where the actual position is either below or over the boundary is acceptable 
subject to the authorised limit not being breached.

Actual financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream - this indicator identifies the 
trend in the cost of capital (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of 
investment income) against the net revenue stream.

Page 94



2017/18
Authorised limit £90.456m
Maximum gross borrowing position £67.456m
Operational boundary £80.360m
Average gross borrowing position £67.456m
Financing costs as a proportion of net revenue stream – Non HRA
                                                                                          HRA

-1.53%
34.12%

5.0 TREASURY POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

5.1 The Council’s debt and investment position is organised by the treasury management 
service in order to ensure adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for 
investments and to manage risks within all treasury management activities. Procedures 
and controls to achieve these objectives are well established both through member 
reporting and through officer activity detailed in the Council’s Treasury Management 
Practices. At the beginning and the end of 2017/18 the Council’s treasury position 
including accrued interest was as follows:

31/3/17 
Amount

£’000

Rate/
Return

%

Average
Life

31/3/18 
Amount

£’000

Rate/
Return

%

Average
Life

Fixed rate funding
    PWLB
    Leases

67,456
-

3.48
n/a

45 years 67,456
-

3.48
n/a

44 years

Total debt 67,456 3.48 45 years 67,456 3.48 44 years

  CFR 71,166 72,286
  Over/(under) borrowing (3,710) (4,830)

Cash and investments:
  long term (927) n/a n/a (927) n/a n/a
  short term (29,290) 0.60 99 days (32,597) 0.76 155 days
  instant access deposits (4,908) 0.23 1 day (3,115) 0.46 1 day
Total cash and 
investments (35,125) 0.55 84 days (36,639) 0.73 141 days

Net debt 32,331 30,817

Page 95



5.2 Investments held at 31 March 2018 including accrued interest were as follows:

In addition to the above investments, the Council has issued two loans to Welland Homes 
which are classified as Long Term Debtors. The balance and details of these loans as at 
31 March 2018 are as follows:

Loan 1 - £1,341,642.80 @ 3.5% repayable on 17/03/47.

Loan 2 - £187,675.67 @ 5.5%. This is a development loan and once the development has 
been completed the rate reduces to 3.5% in accordance with the loan agreement.

5.3 As at 31 March 2018 the maturity structure of the investment portfolio was all under one 
year with the exception of the £50k equity stake in the UK Municipal Bonds Agency and 
the £2.4m combined equity stake in, and loans to Welland Homes Ltd.

  
5.4 All borrowing is at fixed rates and cash/investment holdings are split £33.5m fixed and 

£3.1m variable.  The whole of the borrowing is due for repayment on 28 March 2062.

6.0 THE STRATEGY FOR 2017/18

6.1 The expectation for interest rates within the treasury management strategy for 2017/18 
anticipated that Bank Rate would not start rising from 0.25% until quarter 2 2019 and then 
only increase once more before 31/03/20.  There would also be gradual rises in medium 
and longer term fixed borrowing rates during 2017/18 and the two subsequent financial 
years.  Variable, or short-term rates, were expected to be the cheaper form of borrowing 

Financial Institution (Lowest long 
term rating in brackets)

Investment
 Type

Amount
£’000

Start 
Date

Maturity 
Date

Rate/
Return

%
 UK Municipal Bonds Agency Equity      50 n/a n/a n/a

 Welland Homes Ltd (N/A) Equity    877 n/a n/a n/a

 Svenska Handelsbanken (AA-) Instant Access    513 n/a n/a 0.43

 CCLA Money Market Fund (AAA) Money Market 
Fund 2,602 n/a n/a 0.46

 Royal Bank of Scotland (BBB+) Certificate of 
Deposit 5,034 13/04/17 13/04/18 0.70

 Qatar National Bank (A) Time Deposit 1,008 18/04/17 18/04/18 0.83

 Coventry Building Society (A) Time Deposit 4,009 03/11/17 03/05/18 0.54

 Telford & Wrekin Council (AA) Time Deposit 3,001 19/03/18 21/05/18 0.85

 First Abu Dhabi Bank (AA-) Time Deposit 5,025 01/06/17 01/06/18 0.60

 Lloyds Bank (A) Time Deposit 2,508 21/11/17 20/11/18 0.90

 London Borough of Enfield (AA) Time Deposit 5,006 02/02/18 01/02/19 0.78
 Oadby & Wigston Borough Council 
(AA)

Time Deposit 3,003 14/02/18 13/02/19 0.78

 Cambridgeshire County Council (AA) Time Deposit 4,003 28/02/18 27/02/19 1.00

 TOTAL 36,639

Page 96



over the period.  Continued uncertainty in the aftermath of the 2008 financial crisis 
promoted a cautious approach, whereby investments would continue to be dominated by 
low counterparty risk considerations, resulting in relatively low returns compared to 
borrowing rates.

6.2 In this scenario, the treasury strategy was to postpone borrowing to avoid the cost of 
holding higher levels of investments and to reduce counterparty risk.

6.3 During 2017/18, longer term PWLB rates were volatile but with little overall direction, 
whereas shorter term PWLB rates were on a rising trend during the second half of the 
year.

7.0 THE ECONOMY AND INTEREST RATES (commentary provided by Link Asset 
Services - external treasury advisors)

7.1 During the calendar year of 2017, there was a major shift in expectations in financial 
markets in terms of how soon Bank Rate would start on a rising trend.  After the UK 
economy surprised on the upside with strong growth in the second half of 2016, growth in 
2017 was disappointingly weak in the first half of the year which meant that growth was 
the slowest for the first half of any year since 2012. The main reason for this was the 
sharp increase in inflation caused by the devaluation of sterling after the European Union 
(EU) referendum, feeding increases into the cost of imports into the economy.  This 
caused a reduction in consumer disposable income and spending power as inflation 
exceeded average wage increases.  Consequently, the services sector of the economy, 
accounting for around 75% of Gross Domestic Product (GDP), saw weak growth as 
consumers responded by cutting back on their expenditure. However, growth did pick up 
modestly in the second half of 2017.  Consequently, market expectations during the 
autumn, rose significantly that the Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) would be heading in 
the direction of imminently raising Bank Rate.  The minutes of the MPC meeting of 14 
September indicated that the MPC was likely to raise Bank Rate very soon.  The 2 
November MPC quarterly Inflation Report meeting duly delivered by raising Bank Rate 
from 0.25% to 0.50%.

The 8 February MPC meeting minutes then revealed another sharp hardening in MPC 
warnings on a more imminent and faster pace of increases in Bank Rate than had 
previously been expected. 

Market expectations for increases in Bank Rate, therefore, shifted considerably during the 
second half of 2017-18 and resulted in investment rates from 3 – 12 months increasing 
sharply during the spring quarter.

7.2 PWLB borrowing rates increased correspondingly to the above developments with the 
shorter term rates increasing more sharply than longer term rates.  In addition, UK gilts 
have moved in a relatively narrow band this year, (within 25 basis points for much of the 
year), compared to United States (US) treasuries. During the second half of the year, 
there was a noticeable trend in treasury yields being on a rising trend with the Fed raising 
rates by 0.25% in June, December and March, making six increases in all from the floor. 
The effect of these three increases was greater in shorter terms around 5 year, rather 
than longer term yields.

Page 97



8.0 BORROWING RATES IN 2017/18

8.1 PWLB certainty maturity borrowing rates - the following graph shows PWLB certainty 
maturity rates for a selection of maturity periods throughout the financial year.

9.0 BORROWING OUTTURN FOR 2017/18

9.1 Due to investment concerns, both counterparty risk and low investment returns, no new 
borrowing was undertaken during the year.

9.2 No rescheduling was done during the year as the average 1% differential between PWLB new 
borrowing rates and premature repayment rates made rescheduling unviable.

9.3 The table in paragraph 5.1 provides a summary of borrowing as at 31 March 2018.

10.0 INVESTMENT RATES IN 2017/18

10.1 Investment rates for 3 months and longer have been on a rising trend during the second 
half of the year in the expectation of Bank Rate increasing from its floor of 0.25%, and 
reached a peak at the end of March. Bank Rate was duly raised from 0.25% to 0.50% on 
02/11/17 and remained at that level for the rest of the year.  However, further increases 
are expected over the next few years. Deposit rates continued into the start of 2017/18 at 
previous depressed levels due, in part, to a large tranche of cheap financing being made 
available under the Term Funding Scheme to the banking sector by the Bank of England; 
this facility ended on 28/02/18.

Page 98



11.0 INVESTMENTS OUTTURN FOR 2017/18

11.1 Investments Policy – the Council’s investment policy is governed by the MHCLG 
guidance, which has been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by 
the Council on 22 February 2017.  This policy sets out the approach for choosing 
investment counterparties, and is based on credit ratings provided by the three main credit 
rating agencies supplemented by additional market data (such as rating outlooks, credit 
default swaps, bank share prices etc.).

11.2 The investment activity during the year conformed to the approved strategy, and the 
Council had no liquidity difficulties.

11.3 Resources - the Council’s cash balances comprise revenue and capital resources and 
cash flow monies.  The Council’s core cash resources comprised as follows:

Balance Sheet Resources (£’000) 31 March 2017 31 March 2018

Balances 11,182 15,062

Earmarked Reserves 8,543 7,819

Major Repairs Reserve 6,696 4,304

Capital Grants and Contributions 1,612 1,841

Usable capital receipts 3,572 6,435

Total 31,605 35,461

Page 99



11.4 Investments held by the Council - the Council maintained an average balance of £41.7m 
of internally managed funds.  The internally managed funds earned an average rate of 
return of 0.622%.  The comparable performance indicator is the average 3 Month London 
Interbank Bid rate, which was 0.286%.

11.5 Actual investment interest earned during 2017/18 was £259k against an original budget of 
£150k. The main reasons for the increase were higher than anticipated interest rates 
available in the market during the second half of the financial year and higher than 
anticipated levels of investment balances.

11.6 As mentioned in paragraph 5.2 the Council has now issued two loans totalling £1.529m to 
Welland Homes Limited, which is the Council’s wholly owned Housing Development 
Company. These are service loans and the Council receives interest of 3.5% and 5.5% on 
these loans which is payable on a quarterly basis. Total interest earned on these loans 
during the year was £41,124.

12.0 REVISED CIPFA CODES, MHCLG INVESTMENT GUIDANCE AND MHCLG MINIMUM 
REVENUE PROVISION GUIDANCE

12.1 In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, (CIPFA), 
issued a revised Treasury Management Code and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes, and a 
revised Prudential Code. A particular focus of these revised codes was how to deal with 
local authority investments which are not treasury type investments e.g. by investing in 
purchasing property in order to generate income for the Authority at a much higher level 
than can be attained by treasury investments.  One recommendation was that local 
authorities should produce a new report to members to give a high level summary of the 
overall capital strategy and to enable members to see how the cash resources of the 
Authority have been apportioned between treasury and non-treasury investments. 

12.2 CIPFA accepts that the issue of revised codes in December 2017 will have made it very 
difficult for authorities to implement both codes for the 2018/19 budget cycle.  Full 
implementation is not expected until the 2019/20 budget cycle across all authorities. 

12.3 Revised MHCLG investment guidance was issued on 02/02/18. This focused particularly 
on non-financial asset investments.  The effective definition of a short-term investment as 
being repayable ‘within 12 months’ in the 2010 investment guidance, has been removed 
from the 2018 guidance.  A long term investment is now therefore one in excess of 365 
days.

12.4 The MHCLG MRP guidance was issued on 02/02/18. This has focused particularly on 
expenditure on purchasing non-financial asset investments.  There are also changes to 
guidance on retrospective changes to MRP policy.

13.0 MARKETS IN FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS DIRECTIVE II (MiFID II)

13.1 The EU set the date of 3 January 2018 for the introduction of regulations under MIFID II.  
These regulations govern the relationship that financial institutions conducting lending and 
borrowing transactions will have with local authorities from that date.  This has had little 
effect on this Authority apart from having to fill in forms sent by each institution dealing 
with this Authority and for each type of investment instrument we use, apart from for cash 
deposits with banks and building societies.

14.0 OPTIONS

14.1 There are no alternative options presented.

Page 100



15.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

15.1 To comply with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Code of 
Practice on Treasury Management 2017.

16.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

16.1 The report provides Members with a summary of the economy, the effect it has had on 
financial markets and the treasury activity during 2017/18. 

17.0 IMPLICATIONS

17.1 Constitution & Legal

17.1.1 This Council is required by regulations issued under the Local Government Act 2003 to 
produce an annual treasury management review of activities and the actual prudential and 
treasury indicators for 2017/18. This report meets the requirements of both the CIPFA 
Code of Practice on Treasury Management and the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities.

17.1.2 The Council’s financial strategy, capital financing and borrowing all form part of the Policy 
Framework and are therefore non-executive matters that fall within the remit of the full 
Council.

17.2 Financial 

17.2.1 The report provides details of the treasury activity for the 2017/18 financial year to inform 
members on performance and to highlight any changes in the year.

17.2.2 Total interest received was £259k with £173k to the General Fund and £86k to the 
Housing Revenue Account. 

17.3 Risk Management 

17.3.1 The Council’s investment policy has regard to the MHCLG Guidance on Local 
Government Investments (“the Guidance”) and the revised CIPFA Treasury Management 
in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM 
Code”). The Council’s investment priorities are security first, liquidity second, then return.

18.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

18.1   Due to budgetary considerations all wards are affected.

19.0   ACRONYMS 

19.1 CPBS – Compass Point Business Services
19.2 CIPFA – Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
19.3 HRA – Housing Revenue Account
19.4 CFR – Capital Financing Requirement
19.5 PWLB – Public Works Loan Board
19.6 MRP – Minimum Revenue Provision
19.7 VRP – Voluntary Revenue Provision
19.8 MHCLG – Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
19.9 EU – European Union

Page 101



19.10 GDP – Gross Domestic Product
19.11 MPC – Monetary Policy Committee
19.12 US – United States
19.13 MiFID – Markets in Financial Instruments Directive

Background papers: - SHDC Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2017/18

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sean Howsam – Finance Manager Treasury (CPBS)
Telephone Number: 01507 613248
Email: sean.howsam@cpbs.com

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report:  None

Page 102



Document is Restricted

Page 103

Agenda Item 15.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	8.a) Licensing Committee 19 April 2018
	Minutes

	8.b) Committee of the Licensing Authority 19 April 2018
	Minutes

	8.c) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel 24 April 2018
	Minutes

	8.d) Policy Development Panel 1 May 2018
	Minutes

	8.e) Performance Monitoring Panel 2 May 2018
	Minutes

	8.f) Planning Committee 9 May 2018
	Minutes
	 Appendix

	8.g) Governance and Audit 24 May 2018
	Minutes

	8.h) Planning Committee 13 June 2018
	Minutes

	9. Report from Cabinet meeting held on 29 May 2018
	Covering report (appendix)
	Appendix A to covering report (appendix)

	10. Key Decision Plan
	Plan

	11. Annual Treasury Management Review 2017/18
	15. Restricted Minute

